

Dottorato di ricerca

In

Organismi Modello nella Ricerca Biomedica e Veterinaria

XXVI ciclo

Anno Accademico 2013/2014

Tesi di Dottorato

"Toxicogenomics in The Analysis of Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals Effects on Pancreatic Islet Function: The Bisphenol A Case"

Relatore

Ch.ma Prof. Concetta Ambrosino

Coordinatore

Ch.mo Prof. Paolo De Girolamo

Candidato Dr. Emanuele Carchia

Abstract

Bisphenol A (BPA) is widely used in plastic products. It is classified as an Endocrine Disrupting Chemical and has been associated to several endocrine-related disorders. The widespread exposure and the health effects are of concern. Epidemiological studies and in vivo and in vitro experiments correlate the BPA exposure to alterations of pancreatic islets, liver and adipose tissue functions. Given these data, its prevalence in the environment and the presence in serum from humans worldwide, BPA may play a role in the rapid increase of incidence of metabolic disorders.

In this work we studied the effects of low doses of BPA on ex vivo primary murine pancreatic islets through a toxicogenomical approach. We found, through trascriptome analysis, that BPA is able to alter the expression of specific genes involved in mitochondrial functions, ROS detoxification and insulin exocytosis signal generation. Moreover, we demonstrated that BPA exposure impairs islets viability and promotes apoptosis in dose-dependent manner. Finally, we assessed that this apoptosis triggering is due to a BPA-dependent increase of ROS that activate the NF*k*B pathway. Taken together, our results suggest that exposure to low doses of BPA interferes with mitochondrial functions, which, in turn, leads to intracellular ROS increase, NF*k*B pathway activation and, finally, to apoptosis. Therefore, this work confirms the detrimental effects of BPA on pancreatic islet functions, shedding a new light on its mechanism of action.

Table of Contents

1 Introduction	5
1.1 Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals	5
1.1.1 Low Dose	7
1.1.2 Non monotonic dose response curve	7
1.1.3 EDCs - Mechanisms of Action	8
1.1.3.1 Age of exposure and critical windows	9
1.1.3.2 Transgenerational and epigenetic effects	10
1.1.3.3 Cocktail effects	10
1.1.3.4 EDCs – cell targets	10
1.1.3.4.1 Activation of the classical nuclear receptors.	11
1.1.3.4.2 Activation of membrane-bound receptors	11
1.1.3.4.3 Cytoplasmic interactions	11
1.1.3.4.4 Activation of Estrogen-Related Receptors.	12
1.1.3.4.5 Interference with hormones metabolism and hormonal feedback regulation	12
1.1.3.4.6 Cross-talk with other pathways after binding other receptors	13
1.1.4 Epidemiology of EDCs	14
1.2 Bisphenol A	15
1.2.1 BPA- Mechanisms of Action	18
1.2.2 BPA - Health Issues	22
1.2.2.1 Reproductive system	22
1.2.2.2 Hormonal cancers	23
1.2.2.3 Brain morphology, neuroendocrine signaling and behavior	24
1.2.2.4 Liver function	25
1.2.2.5 Thyroid function	26
1.2.2.6 Metabolism	26
1.3 BPA and Metabolic Disorders	27
1.3.1 The Pancreas	29
1.3.1.1 Islets of Langerhans	30
1.3.1.2 Animal model – the mouse	31
1.3.2 Regulation of Blood Glucose by insulin	32
1.3.3 - Mitochondria	34
1.3.4 Role of Estrogens in Glucose Metabolism	35
1.3.5 BPA - Metabolism Effects	38
1.4 Thesis Aim	41

2	Materials and Methods	42
	2.1 Mice	42
	2.2 Isolation, purification and culture of mouse pancreatic islets	42
	2.3 Islets disaggregation	43
	2.4 Isolation, purification and culture of mouse hepatocytes	43
	2.5 MTT assay	44
	2.6 RNA Extraction	45
	2.7 Microarray	45
	2.8 Real Time PCRs	46
	2.9 ATPlite assay	47
	2.10 TUNEL assay	48
	2.11 Statistical and bioinformatics analyses	48
3	Results	49
	3.1 Low doses of BPA does not alter the murine pancreatic islets morphology	49
	3.2 BPA impairs murine pancreatic islet cells viability	50
	3.3 Microarray analysis: Low concentration of BPA alters murine pancreatic islets gene expressions	51
	3.4 Microarray analysis: Low concentration of BPA impairs pancreatic murine islets mitochondrial functions	54
	3.5 Microarray validation: Low concentration of BPA alters genes involved in specific cell functions	54
	3.6 BPA has specific effects on murine pancreatic islets	58
	3.7 Low concentrations of BPA have no effect on ATP production	59
	3.8 BPA promotes apoptosis	60
	3.9 BPA, but not E2, enhances Bax gene transcription specifically in murine pancreatic islets	62
	3.10 BPA, in murine pancreatic islets, induces apoptosis enhancing ROS level and triggering NF- <i>k</i> B pathway	63
4	Discussion	67
5	Conclusions	73
6	References	74

1 Introduction

1.1 Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals

Recently, it is emerging the idea that micro-traces of some environmental pollutants could modify organism responses, increase susceptibility to certain diseases, and have chronic effects visible only in long run. This has opened a new field in environmental toxicology with the identification of new class of compounds: Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals (EDCs). The US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) defines the EDCs as "Exogenous agent that interferes with the production, release, transport, metabolism, binding action, or elimination of natural hormones in the body responsible for the maintenance of homeostasis and the regulation of developmental processes". This group of molecules is highly heterogeneous and includes both synthetic and natural compounds, e.g. dioxin and dioxin-like compounds, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and Polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs) used in chemical and electronic industries, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), chlorpyrifos and other pesticides, fungicides and weed killers, plasticizer and plastic constituent such as Bisphenol A (BPA) and phthalates, pharmaceuticals such as Diethylstilbestrol (DES), Plant Growth Regulators (PGRs) and phytoestrogens (e.g. genistein, daidzein, coumestrol, resveratrol), heavy metals and metalloids. The sources of exposure to EDCs are diverse and vary widely around, the most part come from industrial and metropolitan pollution but they may be also found in many everyday products-including plastic bottles, metal food cans, detergents, flame-retardants, food, toys, cosmetics (Fig. 1)[1], [2], [3]. Exposure occurs through drinking contaminated water, breathing contaminated air, ingesting food, or through transdermal absorption. Furthermore, in utero and neonatal exposure and transgenerational effects, through the germline cells, are gaining more and more interest.



Industrialized areas are typically characterized by contamination from a wide range of industrial chemicals that may leach into soil and groundwater and contaminate air. These complex mixtures enter the food chain and, owing to bioaccumulation and biomagnification, accumulate in animals higher up the food chain such as humans. Furthermore, several EDCs were designed to have long half-lives and, although this was beneficial for their industrial use, it has turned out to be quite detrimental to wildlife and humans. Because these substances do not decay easily, even substances that were banned decades ago remain in high levels in the environment. Some endocrine disruptors are detectable in so-called "pristine" environments at remote distances from the site they were produced, used, or released due to water and air currents, to become incorporated into the food chain in an otherwise uncontaminated region. Others, such as BPA, may not be as persistent, although recent evidence suggests longer half-lives but are so widespread in their use that there is a prevalent human exposure. In the human body, due to their lipophilicity, they accumulate in adipose tissue, where thay can be retrieved unmetabolized or metabolized into more toxic compounds than the parent molecules. From this tisuue they are slowly released and can be detected as part of the body burden of virtually every tested individual animal or human [4], [5].

1.1.1 Low Dose

One of the main feature of EDCs is their ability to exert their effects at very low concentrations. Indeed, the term "low dose" has become common to indicate the physiologically and pathologically relevant dose of an EDC [6]. It is well established in the endocrine literature that natural hormones act at extremely low serum concentrations, typically in the picomolar to nanomolar range. Many studies published in the peer-reviewed literature document that EDCs can act in the nanomolar to micromolar range, and some show activity at picomolar levels. The Low Dose is considerably lower than the doses usually used in standard toxicological tests and than of the previously set LOAEL and NOAEL. The Low Dose is also frequently comparable to environmental concentration and to concentration measured in human fluids of EDCs [7].

1.1.2 Non monotonic dose response curve

Another EDC distinctive feature is the non-monotonic dose response curve. Classically, it was assumed that curves describing dose and response are monotonic, i.e. dose escalation leads to a greater effect and the slope never reverses from positive to negative or vice versa. For EDCs non-monotonic curves, including "U-shaped" or "inverted-U-shaped" dose response relationships, have been described [8]. The reasons why dose responses to toxicants may be non-monotonic can be manifold: the activation of metabolizing enzymes or conjugation substrates may result in a U-shaped dose response for some endpoints, with effects at low and at high levels of exposure, and diminished or nonexistent effects at intermediate levels, due to metabolic clearance. Furthermore, adaptive responses through complex cell signaling pathways and feedback mechanisms could cause non-monotonic effects that are inconsistent with the traditionally expected dose-response curves based on extrapolation of high dose data

7

predicting a decreasing effect for lower doses. Finally, the EDCs could have multiple targets with different affinity either in an organism or in an organ or even in single cells. Therefore, when in low concentration, they may be able to bind only some targets, while at higher concentrations can bind other targets producing changes in the effects and causing non-monotonic dose-response curve.

1.1.3 EDCs - Mechanisms of Action

Our understanding of the mechanisms by which EDCs exert their effect has grown. They were originally thought to exert actions primarily through nuclear hormone receptors, including estrogen receptors (ERs), androgen receptors (ARs), progesterone receptors, thyroid receptors (TRs), and retinoid receptors, among others. Today, basic scientific research shows that the mechanisms are much broader than originally recognized. Thus, endocrine disruptors act via nuclear receptors, non-nuclear steroid hormone receptors (*e.g.*, membrane ERs), non-steroid receptors (*e.g.*, neurotransmitter receptors), orphan receptors [*e.g.*, aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR)], enzymatic pathways involved in steroid biosynthesis and/or metabolism, and numerous other mechanisms that converge upon endocrine system [9]. Binding these targets the EDCs can exert their effects in various ways such as having agonist or antagonist actions, competing for transport molecules, modifying natural hormones homeostasis (production and elimination), modifying hormone receptors expression, altering gene expression, disrupting epigenetic cells programming, disturbing intracellular transduction pathways [9].

A number of issues have proven to be key concepts to a full understanding of mechanisms of action and consequences of exposure to EDCs:

- Latency from exposure
- Age at exposure
- Transgenerational, epigenetic effects
- Cocktail effects
- Nontraditional dose-response dynamics

1.1.3.1 Age of exposure and critical windows

Exposures to EDCs have different effects depending on the life stage of the exposed, fetus, infant or adult. Effects resulting from adult exposure are generally reversible and are termed "activational". Effects resulting from exposure during organ development (beginning during prenatal development and continuing in postnatal life through puberty) may result in persistent alterations of the affected systems, even in the absence of subsequent exposure; these effects are termed "organizational" [10]. Some organizational effects are measurable immediately upon exposure and persist throughout the life [11]. Other organizational effects are undetectable at the time of exposure, but they become apparent in subsequent adulthood [10], [12]. Windows of vulnerability, also known as critical periods, during which the developing system is most sensitive to exposure, are common features of organizational effects [13]. Exposures occurring outside the critical periods will not elicit organizational effects. There is evidence that organizational effects of estrogenic endocrine disruptors such as BPA are mediated by epigenetic alterations in DNA [14]. Organizational and activational effects on the same tissue often differ qualitatively as well as in duration and in the dose required to elicit effects.

1.1.3.2 Transgenerational and epigenetic effects

EDCs may affect not only the exposed individual but also subsequent generations. Recent evidence suggests that the mechanism of transmission may involve in some cases the germline and may be non-genomic. That is, transmitted effects may not be due to mutation of the DNA sequence, but rather due to modifications of epigenetic state of the cells. Generally, an epigenetic effect is defined as heritable changes in gene expression or cellular phenotype without any alterations in the DNA sequence, and its mechanisms include DNA methylation, histone modifications and expression of non-coding RNAs (including microRNAs) [15]. Recent investigations have examined the relationships between exposure to environmental chemical xenobiotics and epigenetic effect induction and have reported that several toxicants have a potential role in modifying epigenetic marks [16]. In addition to epigenetic mechanism, reports shows that estrogens and xenoestrogens have the ability to cause genomic instability [17], [18], with improper chromosome segregation that can lead to chromosomic aberrations or aneuploidy in the progeny.

1.1.3.3 Cocktail effects

The large number of EDCs present in the environment raises questions about the effects of simultaneous exposure to multiple compounds. However, relatively few studies have discussed combination effects. For some authors effects of combined exposure to several (xeno)estrogens at equipotent concentrations were in high agreement with the predictions made with the model of concentration addition (based on the assumption that chemicals act via a similar mechanism) [19], [20]. Other endpoints, however, show far more complex outcomes after combined exposure.

1.1.3.4 EDCs – cell targets

Although EDCs can act through several mechanisms, most information is available about interference of EDCs with sex hormones, especially xenoestrogens.

1.1.3.4.1 Activation of the classical nuclear receptors.

EDCs can bind nuclear receptors (NR) and act as agonist or antagonist. They can control gene networks and modulate target cell activities through the activation of NRs, which bind responsive elements in the promoters of target genes and regulate target gene expression [19]. After activation by binding to a ligand resulting in a conformation change, receptors can act as transcription factors, interacting with coactivators and corepressors and with DNA sequences [21], [22]. However, the change in conformation differs in function of the ligand [23]–[27]. That is what has been observed: receptors bound to xenobiotic ligands do not have exactly the same influence on gene expression as receptors bound by endogenous ligands [28], [29]. This has been studied for several EDCs, such as octylphenol, nonylphenol, endosulfan, kepone [30] and BPA and for the phytoestrogen coumestrol which has opposite effects on the regulation of estrogen receptors compared to $17-\beta$ -estradiol (E2) [31].

1.1.3.4.2 Activation of membrane-bound receptors

Hormones can also induce non-genomic responses based on plasma membrane receptors (e.g. mERs, GPR30) and acting through second messenger-triggered signal cascades [32]. The rapid non-genomic mechanisms have been shown to interact with cytoplasm signal transduction molecules such as cAMP and adenylate cyclase, calcium, PI3K, PKB, and G-proteins or directly with secondary transcription factors such as AP-1, STATs, NF κ B, and Sp1 [33][34]. These actions can result in several different effects, e.g. change in ions concentrations (Ca²⁺, K⁺) that can lead to cell motility or hormone exocytosis such as prolactin or insulin [35]. EDCs, such as dieldrin, endosulfan, nonylphenol, BPA, coumestrol, and DES are known to affect Ca²⁺ influx and PRL or insulin release.

1.1.3.4.3 Cytoplasmic interactions

Besides with nuclear-and plasma membrane-associated receptors, EDCs can also interact with targets within the cytosol. One of the best-studied examples is the activation of Src/Ras/ERK (MAPK) pathway, in a mechanism linked to the proliferative effects of estrogens[36]. Another example is the modulation of nitric oxide (NO), with activation of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS, the enzyme responsible for NO production) [36].

1.1.3.4.4 Activation of Estrogen-Related Receptors.

A particular case is the bind of xenoestrogens to the Estrogen Related Receptors (ERRs). ERRs are a subfamily of orphan nuclear receptors closely related to ER α and ER β . Three of these ERR are known: ERR α , ERR β , and ERR γ . ER and ERR show a considerable amount of similarity in aminoacid sequence, but E2 does not bind ERRs. However, ERR can bind to estrogen response elements which suggests a possible overlap between ER and ERR action [35]. ERRs show spontaneous transcriptional activity, which is repressed by a few chemicals. For example, DES represses the molecular activities of ERRs. Another inverse agonist of ERR γ is 4-hydroxytamoxifen (4- OHT). On the other hand, bisphenol-A has been observed to have a distinct antagonist action to the inverse agonist activity of 4-OHT, thus preserving ERR-activity in the presence of 4-OHT [37].

1.1.3.4.5 Interference with hormones metabolism and hormonal feedback regulation.

Along with the direct influence of EDCs on endocrine targets, they can affect endogenous hormones production through negative and positive feedback [4] or influencing enzymes involved in the process of hormones synthesis. They can also compete with endogenous hormones for transport molecules.

For example, some EDCs, amongst others PCBs and BPA, can disrupt the link between neuroendocrine systems and peripheral endocrine systems for the control of homeostatic processes including reproduction, growth, metabolism, energy balance, and stress response. PCBs reduce the thyroxin and TSH (thyroid stimulating hormone) response to TRH (thyrotropin-releasing hormone), which result in metabolism and energy balance deregulation. Thyroid disruption also has consequences for neural development [38]. Furthermore, the obesogenicity of DES has been supposed to involve action on the developing hypothalamic circuits, which are important for the energy balance [38].

An esplicative example of how EDCs influence the hormone synthesis is he case of xenoestrogen. Xenoestrogens have been shown to affect steroidogenic enzymes, including hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases, aromatase, sulphatases, and sulphotransferases. Mostly, steroidogenesis is inhibited by xenoestrogens [39]. Atrazine was observed to stimulate aromatase activity in some cell types, which leads to a higher synthesis of estradiol [40]. On the other hand, DDT and several metabolites were reported to inhibit aromatase activity in some cell types [39].

1.1.3.4.6 Cross-talk with other pathways after binding other receptors.

The expression of many genes involved in xenobiotic/drug metabolism and transport is regulated by at least three nuclear receptors or xenosensors: aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), constitutive androstane receptor (CAR), and pregnane X receptor (PXR). These receptors establish crosstalk with other nuclear receptors or transcription factors controlling signalling pathways that are important to the homeostasis [41]. For example, many drugs and environmental pollutants activate PXR. A significant proportion (54%) of compounds with estrogenic activity or those able to bind ER were found to be PXR activators (estradiol, ethynylestradiol, BPA, tamoxifen, phthalates, alkylphenols) [42]. The PXR, which regulates several cytochrome P450 enzymes crucial in the oxidative metabolism of a wide range of chemicals can, thus, play a role in the inactivation of toxic or carcinogenic chemicals, in the activation of procarcinogens and could also act as a protector of the endocrine system from chemical perturbation [42]. The AhR is a ligand activated transcription factor and a key regulator of the cellular response to xenobiotic exposure. It belongs to the family of the bHLH-PAS proteins, and is ubiquitously expressed and well conserved throughout evolution. It is strongly activated by organic compounds such as dioxins, PCDF, PCB and BPA [43] showed that the agonist-activated AhR/Arnt heterodimer directly associates with estrogen receptors ER $-\alpha$ and ER $-\beta$. This association resulted in the recruitment of unliganded ER and the coactivator p300 to estrogen responsive gene promoters, leading to activation of transcription and estrogenic effects.

1.1.4 Epidemiology of EDCs

The endocrine related diseases and disorders are strongly increasing in the last 50 years. The speed with which the increases in disease incidence has occurred in recent decades rules out genetic factors as the sole plausible explanation. Environmental component and other non-genetic factors are supposed to play a role. Despite considerable public interest and research activity, the scope and magnitude of the impact of putative EDCs on human health are largely unknown. Exposures in some cases, have been unusually high, such as those from chemical spills or sewage out falls; therefore they are not typical of the ambient exposures normally encountered by wildlife or human populations. So one of the main challenges was, and still is, to demonstrate whether the low environmental concentrations of EDCs are detrimental for health or not. In wildlife, a number of adverse effects have been linked to specific EDCs. Effects linked to endocrine disruption have been largely noted in invertebrates, reptiles, fish, birds and mammals [44]. Over the last decade, scientific understanding of the relationship between exposure to endocrine disruptors and health has advanced rapidly. There is a growing concern that maternal, fetal and childhood exposure to EDCs could play a larger role in the causation of many endocrine diseases and disorders than previously believed. This is supported by studies of wildlife populations and of laboratory animals showing associations between exposure to EDCs and adverse health effects and by the fact that the increased incidence and prevalence of several endocrine disorders cannot be explained by genetic factors alone.

There are several health problems worldwide with postulated association to the exposure to EDCs: decreased sperm counts/quality, increased incidence of hypospadias and cryptorchidism, altered birth sex ratios, miscarriage, increased

incidence of cancer, altered development, brain and behavior defects, impaired immune function, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, hyper allergic diseases, asthma, obesity, heart disease and type two diabetes. Just some of the several recognized epidemiological associations between EDCs and pathologies and related published papers are listed in table 1.

DISORDER	EPIDEMIOLOGICAL ASSOCIATED EDCs
Abnormal sex ratio	DES [45], PCBs [46], Dioxins [47]
Negative pregnancy outcomes	Lead [48], BPA [43][47], Pesticides [50]–[52], Chlorpyrifos [53], DDT/DDE [54]
PCOS	BPA [55]
Female sub-fecundity	Lead [56], [57], Pesticides [58]–[62], DDT/DDE [63]–[65], PCBS [63], [66]– [68]
Female altered puberty beginning	DDT/DDE [69], [70], Dioxins [71], Lead [72], [73], PBBs [74], PCBs [72]
Male urogenital malformations	DES [75]–[77], DDT/DDE/DDE [78], PCBs [79], Phthalate [80]
Poor sperm quality	PCBs [81], [82], Dioxins [47], Phthalates [83], [84]
Altered menstrual cycle	Lead [48], Pesticides [85], DDT/DDE [86][69], PCBs [86], [87], Dioxins [88], Phytoestrogens [89]
Breast cancer	DES [90]–[92], Dioxins [93]
Prostate cancer	DES[90]–[92], Dioxins [93], Pesticides [94], [95], PCBs [96]
Thyroid cancer	Pesticides [97], [98], Dioxins [97], PCBs [98]
Metabolic disorders	BPA Phthalates [101], DDT/DDE [102]

TABLE 1 Epidemiological associations between EDCs and disease

However, whether or not endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) could be a contributing factor remains the subject of intense scrutiny and other determinants such as diet, stress, and body weight, likely, also play a role [4], [103]–[106].

The most commonly studied EDCs are DDT, PCBs, dioxins and BPA[104], [105]

1.2 Bisphenol A

BPA (2, 2-bis (4-hydroxyphenyl) propane) is a small (228 Da) molecule, composed by two phenolic functional groups [108]–[113]. It is prepared by the combination of two equivalents of phenol with one equivalent of acetone; it was first synthesized by A. P.

Dian in in 1891 and was later investigated in the 1930s during the search for synthetic estrogens [113].

The BPA is used as monomer in polymerization reaction to produce polycarbonate plastics and epoxy resins and in the synthesis of polyesters, polysulfone, polyvinylchloride, and polyethylene terephthalate. Moreover, due to its ability to give plasticity and toughness, it is used as additive in production of nearly all plastics or plastic based materials. The BPA is among the highest-production-volume chemicals in the world, with an annual production of over 2 million tonnes [108], [113].

Therefore it is widely present in a multitude of everyday products, such as drinking water tanks and pipes, medical and dental devices (such as catheters and dental sealants), eyeglass lenses, CDs and DVDs, household electronics, paints, adhesives, food and beverage cans (as lining film), childhood products (such as toys and baby-bottles), and in almost all plastic tools or products [113]–[116].

The BPA is within these products as a polymer. In consequence of mechanical, chemical o physical stress (e.g. detergents, heat or aging), the BPA polymers break down, because of hydrolysis of ester bonds (Fig. 2), and the monomers can seep into water, foods and dust particles, contaminating the environment and providing ample



entry ways for BPA into humans and animals. This process is commonly known as "leaching" [109], [111], [115], [116].

The primary source of exposure to BPA for most people is through the diet. While inhalation and transdermal absorption are other possible routes of exposure, BPA in food and beverages accounts for the majority of daily human exposure.

Therefore, exposure to BPA is nearly ubiquitous. Measurements by American Centers for Disease Control (CDC) established that 92.6% of American citizens 6 years or older have detectable BPA levels in their urine and its concentration in human serum ranges from 0.2 to 1.6 ng/ml (0.9-7 nM) [119]–[121].

A comprehensive, cross-sectional study of dust, indoor and outdoor air, and solid and liquid food in preschool-aged children suggests that dietary sources constitute 99% of BPA exposure [119]. For example, in a randomized control study, the researchers found that consumption of one serving of canned soup daily over 5 days was associated with a more than 1000% increase in urinary BPA [122]. Moreover, since BPA is a lipophilic compound it can also accumulate in fat, with detectable levels found in 50% of breast adipose tissue samples from women, suggesting that the compound accumulates in fat and other physiologic compartments [78].

Concerning the widespread exposure and the potential risk of this compound, in the 1980s LOAEL for BPA was determined at 50mg/kg bw/day and the NOAEL at 5mg/ kg bw/day. These doses were established in a 2-year carcinogenesis study conducted in adult rodents exposed daily to high doses of BPA. Nevertheless, in 1988, the EPA calculated a 'reference dose' or safe dose of 50 μ g/kg bw/day in a series of studies in which the changes of body weight in animals fed diets containing BPA were analyzed [123]. This reference dose remains the current safety standard for BPA today despite new knowledge about BPA, including the numerous reports of non-monotonic dose response effects of BPA, and despite the numerous scientific evidence supports that

BPA can interfere with the endocrine signaling pathways at doses below the calculated safe dose [117], [123]



1.2.1 BPA- Mechanisms of Action

The BPA is basically known for being a xenoestrogen. Indeed, before its extensive use in chemical industry, it was originally investigated as synthetic estrogen but abandoned for pharmaceutical use because of the discovery in 1938 of DES with greater estrogenic effect [124]. The core structure of BPA resembles that of natural 17 β -estradiol (E2) (Fig. 4) and fits in the ER binding pocket. This was confirmed by biochemical assays that examined the kinetics of BPA binding to ER and determined that BPA binds both ER α and ER β [123][124].

Therefore, the most literature converges on its effects on estrogens-responsive tissues or organs (specifically on reproductive system), mediated by classic nuclear ERs or novel transmembrane (GPR30) or membrane-bound ERs.

Until recently, BPA was considered a weak environmental estrogen because of its affinity for the nuclear ERs is approximately 10000-fold weaker compared to estradiol [126]. However, recent studies confirmed that BPA is a SERM and can have agonist or antagonistic action on ERs. These actions, through a variety a pathways, can induce (or inhibit) cellular responses at very low concentrations, below the levels where BPA

is expected to bind to the classical nuclear ERs (reviewed in [127]). Extensive biochemical studies of ER α have identified two distinct gene transactivating regions, termed AF1 (found in the amino terminus) and AF2 (located in the carboxyl terminus) [125].ER agonists are subdivided based on their ability to activate these regions. Binding of BPA to the ERs alters their ability to recruit co-activators and this may contribute to the complex tissue-specific responses to exposure, as well as to the dual action (agonistic and antagonistic) of the BPA [128]. For instance, BPA is able to alter the gene expression in cells containing ER β where TIF2 is the main coactivator, but may be equally effective in cells expressing either ER α or ER β if the steroid receptor coactivator-1a is present [129].

Several membrane steroid receptors have been described, including a membranebound form of ERs (mER) that is similar but not identical to the nuclear ERa [128][129] and a transmembrane ER called G protein-coupled receptor 30 (GPR30) [132]. BPA has been shown to bind to both mER and GPR30. Studies have determined that these membrane-bound receptors are capable of non-genomic steroid actions [130]–[133] (also reviewed in [128]). For example, GH3/B6 pituitary cells, which naturally express mER, respond to low-level BPA exposure by producing a calcium flux, which leads to prolactin release [131].

The antiandrogenic properties of BPA are still somewhat in dispute. There have been mixed results with mammalian cell reporter assays, *i.e.*, some groups measured antiandrogenic activity of BPA with a half-maximal response at 2.14–3.2 μ M [132][133], whereas others were unable to demonstrate any antagonist activity [136].

Additional studies indicate that BPA also binds to an orphan nuclear receptor called estrogen-related receptor- γ (ERR- γ) [137]. Although the endogenous ligand for ERR- γ remains unknown, the human receptor behaves as a constitutive activator of transcription and may play a role in differentiation and maturation of the fetal brain [37].

In addition to its estrogenic activity, there is some evidence that BPA binds to thyroid hormone receptor, acting as a thyroid hormone antagonist by preventing the binding of T3. The affinity of BPA for this receptor several-fold lower than its affinity for the ERs, nevertheless, at very low concentrations, it is able to inhibit the TR-induced gene expression recruiting the co-repressor N-COR [138]. Moreover, in a recent study we showed that very low concentration of BPA (10⁻⁹M or lower) is able to affect the pituitary-thyroid axis directly altering, in vivo and in vitro, the expression of genes involved in thyroid hormones synthesis (i.e. thyroblobulin, sodium iodide symporter) or their expression regulators (i.e PAX8 protein). This effect is not mediated neither by ERs nor by TRs, but mainly by retinoid acid receptors (RARs) and NF-*k*B [139].

BPA also binds the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) [135] but the effects remain unknown at this time. Because AhR can cross-talk with other receptors including ERs and the androgen receptor, endocrine-related endpoints may be affected by its activation (reviewed in [140]). It is also reported that BPA interacts with and activates human PXR (pregnane X receptor), a nuclear receptor that functions as a regulator of xenobiotics, acting as a potent agonist [141].

It has been reported that BPA can affect cell-signaling mechanisms by increasing intracellular calcium and phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and nuclear translocation of nuclear factor NF-*k*B [142].

Growing evidence suggests that BPA is associated with oxidative stress [141][142]. Indeed, it has been revealed that BPA can disturb oxidative homeostasis through direct or indirect pathways, including mitochondrial function [145], modulation of antioxidant enzymes and increase thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances in the brain, kidney and testis of mice exposed throughout embryonic/fetal route [146]. Oxidative stress has been implicated in aging and many pathological disorders, such as ischemic diseases, neurodegenerative diseases, diabetes, and cancer, although the underlying mechanisms are not always completely understood [147].



Finally, BPA can alter cell function and response modifying epigenetic state of the cells. This is of particular concern when happen in germinal cells and in perinatal developmental tissue. In fact, epigenome alteration is probably the process that allow the BPA to change offspring phenotype, predisposing individuals to develop certain diseases in adulthood. Specifically it has been demonstrated that low dose of BPA $(2x10^{-8} - 2x10^{-4} \text{ M})$ alters the gene expression of epigenetic regulatory factors such as DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) and methyl-CpG binding protein 2 (MECP2) in a dose-dependent mechanism [148]. Moreover, BPA increases the expression of the histone methyltransferase Enhancer of Zeste Homolog 2 (EZH2) level [149], which is involved in maintaining the transcriptional repressive state of genes over successive cell generations [150]. In addition, BPA exposure has been shown to alter microRNA expression, in the fetal ewe ovary [151] and in human placental cell lines (miR-146a)

[152] suggesting a potential impact in reproductive system and developmental pathways.

1.2.2 BPA - Health Issues

Several publications associate low doses BPA exposure to endocrine-related disorders, anomalies and diseases. For example, since 2007, more than 50 epidemiology studies have examined various health outcomes in relation to BPA exposure and the number of experimental studies in vivo or in vitro is on the rise. The most of these studies use a dose or a concentration of BPA equal or below the EPA cut-off 1x10⁻⁷M or 50ug/Kg/day. Nevertheless many studies examining doses at or below 1x10⁻⁹M report significant biological effects [153]–[166] challenging the hypothesis that BPA only has "weak" endocrine disrupting activity and suggesting that it may be reasonable shift down the reference safe dose set by EPA.

In sum, the literature indicates there are reproducible effects of BPA exposures on a number of endpoints including reproductive system issue, hormonal related cancers, behaviors, liver function, thyroid hormone signaling and metabolic disorders.

All experimental studies examined in the sections below, unless otherwise specified, use concentrations or doses equal to or lower than the EPA reference dose.

1.2.2.1 Reproductive system

Epidemiological studies indicate that BPA is related to decreased sperm quality (low concentration, count, vitality and motility) [167][168], male genital anomalies (shorter anogenital distance and cryptochidism) [169], [170], altered blood sex hormones levels (estrogens, androgens and gonadotropins) [169], [171]–[173][174], polycystic ovary syndrome [121], [175], [176] and endometrial disorders (e.g. endometriosis) [177], [178]. Investigations conducted in fertility centers have shown that high urinary level

of BPA are associated with poor ovarian response to hormone stimulation [179], [180]decreased probability of in vitro fertilization (55% lower for every doubling of BPA level) [181] and high probability of implantation failure [182]. Moreover, a study of Sugiura-Ogasawara et al. [49] demonstrated that women who experienced recurrent miscarriages had significantly higher total serum BPA than the healthy controls from the same town. Of the miscarriage patients who subsequently had successful pregnancies, there was a trend of less serum BPA. Probably, this increase in miscarriages is due to chromosomal anomalies (aberrations and aneuploidies), induced by BPA in oocytes [49], [183], [184]. Several in vitro and in vivo studies confirm these negative outcomes in reproductive performances and in the disorders of the reproductive apparatus. Studies on cell lines or on ex vivo primary cells isolated from the reproductive tract identified several effects of BPA ranging from altered hormone secretion [185] to altered gene expression [186]–[188] and altered proliferation [157], [159], [189], [190]. Animal studies showed that BPA alters estrous cycles, number of oocytes, receptors expression and cell proliferation in multiple compartments of the uterus, testis weight at puberty and in adulthood and prostate size [113]. Furthermore, BPA was shown to induce hypermethylation of estrogen receptor promoter regions in rat testis, indicating in the epigenetic changes one of the possible mechanisms of BPA induced adverse effects on spermatogenesis and fertility [191].

1.2.2.2 Hormonal cancers

The studies on effects of low doses of BPA on cancer induction are controversial, except for breast cancers. However, the idea that BPA can play a role in tumorigenesis and neoplastic progression of hormonal-dependent cancers is well accepted. Indeed, studies in rodents have shown that BPA induces mammary pre-neoplastic or neoplastic lesions [192]–[195]. Two studies in vivo and in vitro showed that low BPA doses can accelerate mammary tumorigenesis and metastasis in MMTV-erbB2 mice [196] and can induce a profile of tumor aggressiveness in high-risk cells from breast cancer

23

patients [197]. Another recent study revealed the presence of carcinomas in the mammary glands of rats exposed to low doses of BPA only during early development in the absence of any additional carcinogen treatment [198].

Furthermore, there is evidence from rodent models and human prostate cell lines that BPA can influence prostate carcinogenesis, modulating cancer cell proliferation and stimulate disease progression. The recent reports have provided evidence that early life exposure to BPA may increase susceptibility to hormonal carcinogenesis in the prostate gland, possibly by developmentally reprogramming carcinogenic risk [199]. Studies using a rat model showed that brief neonatal exposure to a low dose of BPA significantly increased the incidence and grade of prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia following adult estrogen exposure. This model of sensitivity to hormonal carcinogenesis is relevant to humans in that relative estradiol levels increase in the aging male and may contribute to prostate disease risk [200]. The above studies further identified alterations in DNA methylation patterns in multiple cell signaling genes in BPA-exposed prostates which suggest that environmentally relevant doses of BPA 'imprint' the developing prostate through epigenetic alterations [199].

In vivo analyses of BPA impact on human prostate tumor growth and recurrence was performed utilizing a xenograft model [201]. Tumor size increased in response to BPA administration and mice in the BPA cohort demonstrated an earlier rise in PSA.

Finally, Hiroi et al. have suggested the presence of associations between BPA exposure and complex endometrial hyperplasia and endometrial cancer [178].

1.2.2.3 Brain morphology, neuroendocrine signaling and behavior

The most meaningful studies on the effects on brain development, neuroendocrine signaling, and behavior concern the in utero and perinatal exposure to BPA. The exposure of pups or of pregnant rats or mice to BPA results in an increased expression

of ERs [202] and ER- α labeled neurons [203] in diverse brain areas and in a reduced number of dopamine containing neurons [204]. CD-1 mice developmental exposure to BPA result in a significant change in the locus coeruleus [205], [206] while maternal exposure disrupt normal neocortical development in fetuses by accelerating neuronal differentiation/migration [207]. Moreover, five studies have demonstrated low dose effects of adult BPA exposures on brain endpoints such as synapse formation and remodeling [208], [209]. Some of these effects were observed only in response to additional hormone treatments (e.g., BPA attenuates the effects of estrogens on synapse formation/remodeling). Epidemiological studies examining neurobehavioral outcomes correlates pre-natal exposure to BPA exposure and neurobehavioral outcomes, such as aggressivity and hyperactivity [210] or anxious or depressed behavior with poor emotional control [211]. These observations are in agreement with results of behavioral tests conducted on laboratory rodents exposed to low doses of BPA such as anxious behavior, increase of aggressiveness, impaired learning, hyper-reactivity to painful or fear-provoking stimuli, altered adult play and other socio-sexual behaviors [212]-[217].

1.2.2.4 Liver function

Studies in vitro and in vivo showed the effects of low doses of BPA (10⁻⁹M) are able to enhance the expression of liver enzymes and marker of oxidative stress and to alter the hepatic gene expression and potential markers of liver function [218]–[221]. Furthermore, three epidemiological studies correlate high level of urinary BPA with elevations in liver enzymes (e.g. alkaline phosphatase, lactate dehydrogenase and γ glutamyltransferase) [222]–[224].

1.2.2.5 Thyroid function

Various studies have investigated associations between BPA and thyroid dysfunction. This is of particular concern because thyroid hormones play an important role in controlling metabolism and brain development. In rats prenatal BPA exposure was associated with decreased TSH [225]and increased level of T3/T4 [226] in pups. Several cohorts studies suggest associations between elevated urinary BPA and low circulating TSH and or high T3/T4 [173], [227]; the altered levels of TSH was found also in newborn, which mothers were exposed to BPA [225]. Further, another epidemiological study found that individuals with increased thyroid function (hyperthyroid and sub-clinical hyperthyroid) has significantly higher BPA urinary levels than individuals with normal thyroid function (euthyroid), indicating higher BPA is associated with increased thyroid function [228]. All these studies are in agreement with our findings on enhanced expression of genes involved in thyroid hormones synthesis and in cell proliferation induced by low concentrations of BPA in vitro and in vivo [140].

1.2.2.6 Metabolism

The endocrine system is involved in the control of metabolism, and important organs such as the pancreas and adipose tissue are endocrine organs. The thyroid gland is important in setting the basal metabolic rate, and the adrenal gland plays a role in glucose and lipid metabolism. Consequently, there is good reason to consider that endocrine disruption, and BPA, may be associated with disorders of metabolic function.

1.3 BPA and Metabolic Disorders

The three main metabolic disorders are the metabolic syndrome, the obesity and the diabetes mellitus.

The metabolic syndrome is a condition characterized by the presence of three out of five determinants: abdominal adiposity, hypertension, low high-density lipoprotein, elevated triglycerides and abnormal fasting glucose and often includes insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia and dyslipidemia. There are different definitions of the syndrome, so there are different measures of its prevalence in population, ranging from 1% to 30%. In Italy the metabolic syndrome affects 25% of and 27% of women, equivalent to about 14 million people [229].

Obesity is a medical condition in which excess body fat has accumulated to the extent that it may have a negative effect on health, leading to reduced life expectancy and/or increased health problems [230]. People are considered obese when their body mass index (BMI) a measurement obtained by dividing a person's weight by the square of the person's height, exceeds 30 kg/m2. Authorities view it as one of the most serious public health problems of the 21st century [231]. Its prevalence is rising dramatically in both wealthy and poor countries, indeed worldwide obesity has nearly doubled since 1980. In the 2008 the WHO estimates that 1.4 billion adults are overweight (35% of world population). Of these 500 million adults (greater than 10%) are obese, with higher rates among women than men [232].

Type II diabetes is a pathology characterized by chronic hyperglycemia in the context of insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia and relative loss of β -cellular mass. This is in contrast to diabetes mellitus type 1, in which there is an absolute lack of insulin due to breakdown of islet cells in the pancreas [233]. Type 2 diabetes makes up about 90% of cases of diabetes, with the other 10% due primarily to diabetes mellitus type 1 and gestational diabetes. Its prevalence, and related mortality, are rising, so that WHO recognize the diabetes as a global epidemic. Actually, there are approximately 285

million people with diabetes (6% world population) and it estimates that there will be 600 million in 2030. In Europe, the diabetes causes the 10% of deaths in people ranging 40 to 60 years [234].

These metabolic disorders are three distinct pathological or sub-pathological conditions deeply interrelated. The conditions comprising the metabolic syndrome constitute major risk factors for type 2 diabetes; conversely, obesity is a risk factor for occurrence of the metabolic syndrome and diabetes. The metabolic syndrome is often defined as a pre-diabetic state. In effect, normo-glycemic subjects with metabolic syndrome present a 5-fold increased risk in diabetes developing [235], whereas in subjects with impaired fasting glucose and/or impaired glucose tolerance there is an additional 5-7 fold risk increase [236].

Causal relationships between the metabolic syndrome, obesity and diabetes are controversial; however, these three disorders share risk factors, most of their etiology and many related health issues. Furthermore, they are related to glucose metabolism and to its control by the endocrine system and endocrine organs.

The theory that environmental chemicals could explain a global metabolic disorders epidemic was proposed in 2002 [237]. The commonly held causes, overeating and lack of exercise, were considered insufficient to explain the observed increases in these debases rates. The chemical causation hypothesis was supported by the rapid onset of the increases, which appeared unlikely to be explained by genetic causes. Moreover, recent experimental studies have suggested that BPA affects glucose metabolism through diverse mechanisms including insulin resistance, pancreatic β -cell dysfunction, adipogenesis, inflammation and oxidative stress, which presumed a plausible connections between BPA and diabetes [123], [238]. Indeed, It has been reported that higher BPA exposure, reflected in higher urinary concentrations of BPA recorded in the general adult population of the United States (1455 adults aged 18 through 74 years), may be associated with diabetes [222]. More recently Shankar and Teppala (2011) and Silver et al. (2011) found the same conclusion in a representative

sample of U.S. adult cohort [239], [240]. A positive association between urinary BPA levels and pre-diabetes in 3516 subjects free of diabetes risk factors (body mass index, alcohol intake, blood pressure and serum cholesterol) has been reported. In subgroup analysis, this association was stronger among women and obese subjects [241]. Experimental evidences of BPA involvement in endocrine disruption of energy metabolism control, specifically in the disruption of endocrine pancreas function, are further discussed in sections below.

1.3.1 The Pancreas

The most important organ that control the glucose metabolism is the endocrine pancreas.

The pancreas is both an exocrine and endocrine gland, it lies behind the peritoneum between the greater curvature of the stomach and the duodenum. It is a 15 cm long elongated structure and weighs approximately 85 to 100g. The exocrine portion consists of acini, which produce pancreatic juice, and a duct system that carries the pancreatic juice to the small intestine and the endocrine portion, consisting of pancreatic islets that are able to produce hormones that enter the circulatory system. The pancreatic islets are dispersed among the ducts and acini of the pancreas, with quantities ranging from 500,000 to 1 million, are able to secrete at least five hormones

and paracrine products, the most important of which are insulin, glucagon, and somatostatin [242].



1.3.1.1 Islets of Langerhans

The islets of Langerhans or pancreatic islets are scattered throughout the pancreas and constitute about 1%-2% of the pancreas. They contain several different cell types – including endocrine cells, endothelial cells, nerves and fibroblasts – a range in size from just a few islet cells to complex several thousand islet cells with a diameter up to 300-400 μ m. Each islet containing between 1000 and 3000 cells and contain insulin-producing β -cells, glucagon-producing α -cells, somatostatin-producing δ -cells, pancreatic polypeptide-producing PP cells and ghrelin-producing epsilon cells [243].

The main function of pancreatic β -cells is the biosynthesis and release of insulin, which is controlled by many signaling molecules including neurotransmitters, hormones and nutrients, among which glucose is the most important. Indeed β -cells function as glucose sensors with the crucial task of precisely adjusting insulin release to blood glucose levels, a process in which mitochondria play a central role. Altered nutrient storage and usage, hyperglycemia, and ultimately diabetes, appear when loss or dysfunction of the β -cells fall below a critical threshold [244][245].

1.3.1.2 Animal model – the mouse



In the mouse the pancreas is described as a diffuse pink gland located between stomach, duodenum and colon. It extends posteriorly in the duodenal loop, lying close to the mesenteric attachment. It is divided into irregular lobes and lobules. Several excretory ducts are present, some joining the bile duct where this crosses the pancreas before entering the duodenum. It is both an exocrine and endocrine gland, the first is a complex tubulealveolar gland lacking a connective tissue capsule but surrounded by loose vascular connective tissue of the mesentery and separated into lobes and lobules by septa of loose fibroelastic tissue. The endocrine portions is constituted by the islets of Langerhans, are always closely associated with the septal ducts and blood vessels. The percentage of the different cell subpopulations and the islet cytoarchitecture vary between species. In rodent islets, β -cells are the most abundant, 60–80% of the total number of cells and α -cells being higher (35–45%) and the β -cell percentage lower (55–65%). In humans α and β -cells are distributed evenly throughout the islet, suggesting that paracrine interactions between both types of cells may be vital, on the

other hand in rodents β -cells constitute the core of the islets while non β -cells are distributed in the periphery [244][246].

1.3.2 Regulation of Blood Glucose by insulin

The regulation of blood glucose levels requires insulin. Blood glucose levels can increase dramatically when too little insulin is secreted or when insulin receptors do not respond to it; consequently the pancreas is a vital organ for regulating glucose metabolism in the body. The pancreatic β -cells express the glucose receptors GLUT-1 and GLUT-2, the first is more expressed in human while the second in rodents. Glucose is transported into β -cells, induced by the increase of plasma glucose levels and leads to insulin exocytosis, which manipulates the glucose levels [247]. The combination of glucose receptors, transports and phosphorylation proteins forms the "glucosensor unit" that controls with feedback mechanism the maximum secretory response and the expression of GLUTs on the plasma membrane.



The secretory response of β -cells depends on their electrical activity. The β -cell membrane contains specific transporters for glucose, which promote its entering into the cell by facilitated diffusion. Once inside the cell, it is phosphorylated to glucose-6phosphate by glucokinase, thereby initiating glycolysis and, subsequently, oxidized. Thereafter, mitochondrial metabolism generates ATP, one of the products of this oxidation step, which appears to be the key factor that regulates insulin secretion. K+ channels in the β -cell membrane are regulated by changes in ATP levels, when there is its increase (inside the β cell) the K⁺ channels close depolarizing the β -cell membrane. When depolarization occurs, membrane bound Ca²⁺ channels open and, subsequently, Ca^{2+} flows into the β cell. Then, the increases in intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration cause exocytosis of the insulin-containing secretory granules with the insulin being secreted into pancreatic venous blood and, then, delivered to the systemic circulation. This process is responsible of the short-term insulinic response (10 minutes) that lead to exocytosis of ready releasable granules bound to the membrane. When there is a persistent glucose stimulus, additional signals are necessary to produce a sustained secretion of insulin. They participate in the amplifying pathway formerly referred to as the K⁺-ATP-channel-independent stimulation of insulin secretion.



In contrast to the transient secretion induced by Ca^{2+} raising agents, the sustained insulin release depends on the generation of metabolic factors. This kind of insulinic response is more slow and progressive and can be induced only by high levels glycaemia persistent for long time [244], [248].

1.3.3 - Mitochondria

Mitochondria are key organelles that generate the largest part of cellular ATP and represent the central crossroad of metabolic pathways [248]. The metabolic profiling of β -cell identified mitochondria as key components for their function, as sensors and as generators of metabolic signals controlling insulin secretion [248]. In most tissues, cytosolic conversion of pyruvate to lactate by lactate-dehydrogenase ensures the NADH oxidation, however in β -cells this task is performed mainly through mitochondrial NADH shuttles, transferring glycolysis-derived electrons to mitochondria. This favors the transfer of pyruvate into the mitochondria, which is followed by a catabolism of glucose-derived pyruvate that induces mitochondrial activation and subsequently generation of ATP [245].

A unifying theme is that production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) induced by metabolic stress represents a common pathway of injury in the cascade of events that ultimately results in β -cell failure [249]. Indeed, mitochondrial electron transport chain is the major site of ROS production within the cell. ROS formation is coupled with this electron transportation as a by-product of normal mitochondrial respiration through the one-electron reduction of molecular oxygen; furthermore mitochondria are also one of the primary targets of ROS. The mitochondrial genome is vulnerable to oxidative stress and consecutive susceptible to damages too more extent than nuclear DNA, due to the lack of protective histones and low repair mechanisms [248], [249]. Short transient exposure to oxidative stress is sufficient to impair glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in pancreatic islets. ROS may affect insulin-secreting cells, resulting in mitochondrial

inactivation, thereby interrupting transduction of signals and, as such, affecting insulin secretion. It was observed that one single acute oxidative stress may induce β -cell dysfunction, in a lasting over days manner, a fact that can be explained by persistent damages in mitochondrial components, accompanied by subsequent generation of endogenous ROS of mitochondrial origin [245], [248].

1.3.4 Role of Estrogens in Glucose Metabolism

The (xeno)estrogens can modulate the energy balance influencing the activity of estrogens responsive endocrine organs that play a role in metabolism.

They are part of the refined mechanism that enables the organism to adjust the metabolism to different energy needs. For example, the estrogens increase the glycaemia and the glucose usage during pregnancy. Nevertheless, inappropriate levels of estrogens, even in addition with xenoestrogens can disrupt this fragile endocrine control leading to pathological consequence (Fig. 10).



The involvement of estrogens in energy balance has been confirmed in studies on their receptors. ER- α knockout as well as aromatase knockout (ArKO) mice are obese and insulin resistant [250][251]. This insulin-resistant state may be caused by the action of ER- α , since this receptor is related to glucose metabolism in different tissues including skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, liver, brain and endocrine pancreas [252].

ER- α modulates the GLUT4 expression in skeletal muscle and its transcript is extremely reduced in ER- α –/– mice [253]. The ER- α is also involved in modulating hepatic insulin sensitivity. Actually, ER- α –/– mice have severe hepatic insulin resistance as well as a concomitant alteration of glucose uptake by skeletal muscle [254]. Additionally, estrogens control the distribution of body fat and adipose tissue metabolism, involving both ER- α and ER- β [255][256][257]. Indeed, it is known that estrogens can regulate the amount of white adipose tissue (WAT) in females and males. It has been demonstrated that the absence of ER- α produces adipocyte hyperplasia and hypertrophy in WAT and is accompanied by insulin resistance and glucose intolerance [255][258].

In the brain, the disruption of the ER- α in the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus leads to weight gain, increased visceral adiposity, hyperphagia, hyperglycaemia and impaired energy expenditure in female mice.

The role of ERs in the physiology of the endocrine pancreas is still greatly undetermined. Plasma insulin levels are increased in pregnant rats in response to increased levels of sex steroids [252]. E2 at concentrations comparable to those in pregnancy enhances insulin secretion in perfused rat pancreas [259]. In humans, E2 reverses the effect of menopause on glucose and insulin metabolism, resulting in increased pancreatic insulin secretion as well as improved insulin resistance [260], [261]. In mice, E2 acting partly through ER- α protects pancreatic β cells from apoptosis induced by oxidative stress [262]. In in vitro studies on murine pancreatic
islet treatment with low doses of E2 increases pancreatic insulin expression, content and secretion through ER- α [263].

The novel membrane bound estrogen receptor is responsible for the rapid insulinotropic effect of E2 when applied at physiological concentrations, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [264]. Once bound to its membrane receptor, estrogen triggers the synthesis of cGMP, which in turn activates protein kinase G (PKG). The ATP-dependent potassium channels (KATP), then, close in a PKG-dependent manner causing the plasma membrane depolarization and enhancing $[Ca^{2+}]$ signals [265]. As a result, insulin secretion is increased [266]. This receptor, activated by E2, abolishes glucagon release inhibiting $[Ca^{2+}]$ oscillations induced at low glucose concentrations [267]. Moreover, the increase of $[Ca^{2+}]$ by E2 in β cells is involved in the rapid activation of the transcription factor CREB, transforming an extranuclear initiated signal into a nuclear response [268].



Although estrogens receptors represent the main link between estrogens and metabolism, other feasible players currently emerging are liver X receptors (LXRs). LXRs are well recognized as important regulators of cholesterol homeostasis as well as modulators of lipid and carbohydrate metabolism. It is already known that estrogens can regulate LXRs in metabolic tissues [296]. In the liver, the activation of LXRs leads to the suppression of the gluconeogenic program. In white adipose tissue, the expression of GLUT4, which promotes glucose uptake, is upregulated after LXR activation. Besides its action on peripheral tissues, a novel role for LXR in the pancreas has recently been described. The LXR agonist T09011317 increase glucose dependent insulin secretion. On the other hand, the absence of LXR in mice leads to glucose intolerance and to an accumulation of lipid droplets in pancreatic islets [252].

1.3.5 BPA - Metabolism Effects

The BPA exerts its main effects on energy metabolism influencing the activity of white adipose tissue (WAT) and endocrine pancreas. BPA has many effects on WAT ranging from alteration of inflammatory cytokines and adiponectin release to lipid accumulation and changes of proteins [108], [269]-[271]. The adiponectin is a hormone produced by adipocytes that has different effect depending on the receptors bound, AdipoR1 or AdipoR2 [272]. It increases the fat acids oxidation and glucose metabolism in the skeletal muscle and reduces the hepatic gluconeogenesis enhancing the insulin sensibility [273]. Specifically, BPA inhibited adiponectin secretion from human adipose explants with a U-shaped NMDR curve: at concentrations of 1x10⁻¹⁰ M and 1x10⁻⁹ M inhibited the release, whereas doses of 1x10⁻⁸ M and 1x10⁻⁷ M were indistinguishable from unexposed controls [113]. Furthermore, higher concentrations of BPA (1x10⁻⁶ M) are able to stimulate IL-6 and TNFα release, two inflammatory cytokines. considering that low circulating adiponectin levels and elevated inflammatory cytokines are strongly associated with increased risks of obesity-related diseases, these data suggest a that BPA can be considered an obsogen [108]. It is also described that BPA is able to enter fibroblasts in the differentiation process and to enhance the adipocyte conversion in combination with insulin suggesting that in vivo prolonged exposure to BPA might increase body fat mass and as such be involved the development of obesity [274].

Several experimental studies, in vitro and in vivo, shown that BPA is able to influence the pancreatic islet function. Nadal et al. demonstrated in vitro on isolated islet that low doses of BPA (ranging from 1×10^{-10} to 1×10^{-6} M) are equal to E2 in provoking increase of islet insulin content and release, as well as in increase of the insulin gene expression in an inverted U-shape dose response manner. This effect is mediated by ERs, as it is blocked by the co-incubation with the well-known ERs antagonist ICI 182,780[263], [264].

Moreover, BPA has been shown to bind to both mER and GPR30 in β -islet. Several studies have determined that these membrane-bound receptors are capable of nongenomic steroid actions [113], [252], [268]. With the same mechanism previously described, low concentrations of BPA (1x10⁻¹⁰, 1x10⁻⁹M) induce the closure of K⁺-ATP dependent channels, the increase of intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ and insulin release. The increase of intracellular Ca2+ leads also to activation of CREB, an ubiquitous transcription factor, that has many target gene among the others the insulin gene [268]. These results were confirmed by in vivo studies on mice. The administration of low doses of E2 in or BPA (10 or 100 ug/kg) induce a rapid (30 minutes) increase of insulin secretion ERs independent, accompanied by a glycaemia reduction. More prolonged treatment (4 days) increase the insulin content and release, raise the insulin response to high levels of blood glucose and alter the glycemic and insulinic curve after IGTT (intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test) and ITT (insulin tolerance test). The results of these three works (reviewed in [238]) suggest a potential role of BPA in establishment of hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance. To confirm this, more prolonged exposures, lasting 8 days to 10 weeks, were tested and verified to alter blood glucose and insulin levels, glucose and insulin tolerance, food intake, triglyceride levels, and responses to sugar challenges [220], [275], [276].

More recently a new link between BPA and metabolic disorders that involve the demonstrated ability of BPA to generate oxidative stress and inflammation [277] has been proposed. This hypothesis suggests that BPA, through these mechanisms, promotes insulin resistance and alters adipocyte activity and proliferation. Furthermore, it would also be able to impair pancreatic islet function and vitality damaging their mitochondrial activity.

A study on effect of BPA on mitochondrial activity, oxidization and inflammation was conducted on HepG2 cells, an hepatic cell line containing the entire battery of detoxification enzymes, with concentration of BPA ranging from 1×10^{-12} to 2×10^{-4} M [218]. The results shown that BPA induce a mitochondria-dependent ROS (reactive oxygen species) generation and lipoperoxidation, which led to a late cytosolic oxidative stress, sustained in time (72h) and showing a non-monotonic dose-response pattern (an inverted U-shape dose response). Mitochondria-related oxidative stress mainly results from a dysfunction of the respiratory chain [278]. In fact, the cells exposed to BPA shown also a membrane hyperpolarization. This state is usually associated with ROS generation, due to a poor electron flux leading to a direct reaction with oxygen [279]. It is worth noting that the increase of ROS associated with the increase of membrane potential is relevant for liver cell injury [278].

A recent study conducted on rat insulinoma cell line (INS-1) [280] shown that low dose of BPA (ranging from 2x10⁻⁹ to 2x10⁻⁶M) induce changes in mitochondrial mass, morphology, membrane depolarization and it reduces the ATP production. Moreover, exposure results in a dose dependent increase in the proportion of early apoptotic and apoptotic cells. A higher expression of BAX gene was observed as well as a reduced expression of BCL-2. The mitochondrial and cytosolic fractions were prepared from INS-1 cells to investigate whether the release of cytochrome c was involved in the apoptotic process induced by BPA. Indeed, cytochrome c amount was reduced with increasing BPA concentrations in isolated mitochondria but significantly elevated in the cytosolic fractions in INS-1. Thus, BPA promoted the translocation of cytochrome c from the mitochondria into the cytosol in INS-1 cells. Another study, on ex vivo rat pancreatic islets, partially confirm these results [281] reporting, also, mitochondrial abnormalities at higher BPA concentrations (2.5×10^{-5} M). Recently, it has been reported that oxidative stress induced by BPA can accelerate toxic aggregation of human islet amyloid polypeptide (hIAPP, a hormone synthesized and secreted by the pancreatic β-cells) leading to β-cell death [111].

Collectively, all these results indicate that low doses of BPA can adversely affect metabolic pathways that are revealed in vitro cultured pancreatic islets and in vivo in rodents, suggesting that the associations between BPA exposures and metabolic disorders, in some human populations, can be obvious adverse endpoint.

1.4 Thesis Aim

The widespread exposure to BPA and the already proven effects on the human organism are of concern. BPA is considered as an EDC able to play a role in the onset of metabolic disorders as acting on multiple organs and tissues involved in glucose homeostasis.

The overall objective of this study is to identify the effects of BPA on ex vivo murine pancreatic islets and dissect its endocrine disruption mechanism in the regulation of islets function using a toxicogenomic approach. We chose to study the effects of three different concentrations of BPA, 1x10⁻⁴M, known to be cytotoxic, 1x10⁻⁶M and 1x10⁻⁹M to mimic worker and worldwide population exposure, respectively. We focused on the effects of 1x10-9 M BPA, as it can be considered the environmental concentration. We specifically aim to evaluate:

- the influence on the viability of the islet cells
- the alterations inducted in the trascriptome
- the specific cellular functions impaired
- the pathways involved in endocrine disruption

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Mice

C57/B6 male mice (Biogem s.c.a.r.l., Animal Facility [Biogem AMF], Ariano Irpino [AV], Italy) were used given the animal experimentation background, more specifically the existent data related to the pancreatic influence from BPA. Mice were housed in polysulfone cages with ad libitum access to water and normal diet under specific pathogen-free facility at $22^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}$ temperature and $55\% \pm 15\%$ relative humidity with 12h light:12h darkness cycle and 18 ± 2 changes of air per hour. All experimental procedures on animal were executed in Biogem AMF rooms. The procedures, equipment and environments used in this study comply with the Legislative Decree of 27 January 1992 No. 116, which transposes the European Commission's Directive 86/609/EEC concerning the protection of animals used for experimental and other scientific purposes. All aspects of the study regarding animal welfare were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Biogem scar.l. and the Ministry of Health.

2.2 Isolation, purification and culture of mouse pancreatic islets

Primary cultures of mouse β -Islets were prepared following a Gotoh et al. modified protocol [282]. Briefly, after mouse sacrifice (CO2 inhalation), the pancreas was exposed and injected with 3mls of collagenase solution (0.8mg/ml of Collagenase P [Roche Dignostic GmbH] in HBSS [Sigma-Aldrich]) (Fig. 12). Then, the pancreas was excised and digested by 37.7 °C incubation for 12 minutes. After 2 washing step, the islets were purified by differential centrifugation on Histopaque 1077 (Sigma-Aldrich) and HBSS density gradient (Fig. 12, E). The islet yield and quality was checked on an inverted microscope and the islets were handpicked and cultured at 37°C with 5% CO2.

In RPMI 1640 (Sigma-Aldrich) + 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Sigma-Aldrich) + 11mM glucose (Sigma-Aldrich) + 1% Pen/Strep (Sigma-Aldrich). 250-300 islets per 6cm dish with 3mls of media were used, in order to avoid stressing them. When indicated, isolated islets were treated with 1x10-4, 1x10-6, 1x10-9 M BPA, E2, 50mM, 25 mM glucose, 3mM N-Acetyl-1-cysteine, 10µM BMS 345541, 10µM LY294002, 10µM ICI182780, or vehicle (DMSO, Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated for 24h, 48h or 7 days.



2.3 Islets disaggregation

Dispersion of cells with Ca2+-free medium was done immediately after the isolation of islets. Islets were incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C in 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich), then washed and resuspended in culture medium and plated.

2.4 Isolation, purification and culture of mouse hepatocytes

Primary hepatocytes were obtained by collagenase perfusion of anesthetized mice. After anesthesia and laparotomy a PE10 catheter was introduced in portal vein. The liver was perfused with a pre-digestion solution (HBSS w/o Mg and Ca + 0.5mM EGTA + 25mM Hepes + 1% Pen/Strep[Sigma-Aldrich], pH 7.4) pre-warmed to 37 °C for 10 min at the rate of 5 mL/min, afterwards perfused with pre-warmed digestion solution (William's E Medium + 15mM Hepes + 1% Pen/Strep + 0.32 mg/ml Collagenase type IV [Sigma-Aldrich], pH 7.4) at the same rate for 10 minutes.

The digested liver was excised and hepatocytes were released with gentle shaking of the digested liver into 15 ml of hepatocyte isolation medium (William's E + 4% FBS + 1% Pen/Strep [Sigma-Aldrich]). The digested was filtered (70mM) and twice washed. In order to access the quality of the perfusion the cell viability was assessed via trypan blue staining and then the cells were plated in collagen type I (Sigma-Aldrich) coated dishes with hepatocyte isolation medium. After allowing the cells to attach for approximately 6 hours at 37°C, they were washed once with PBS and the hepatocyte isolation medium was replaced with hepatocyte growth medium (William's E + 4% heat inactivated FBS + 1% Pen/Strep + 50ng/ml Epidermal Growth Factor + 1mg/ml insulin + 10mg/ml Transferrin + 1.3 mg/ml Hydrocortisone [Sigma-Aldrich]). When indicated, hepatocyte were treated with 1x10-9 M BPA, or vehicle (DMSO, Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated for 24h, 48h. No longer treatments were performed due to in vitro mesenchymal transition of the hepatocytes.

2.5 MTT assay

In order to access the cell proliferation, cell viability, and cytotoxicity the 3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay was performed on hepatocytes or dispersed islets in a 96-well plates. The MTT reagent in PBS was added to the cells (final concentration of 0.5 mg/ml) and the cultures were incubated for 4 h at 37°C. The reaction was stopped removing the reagent and adding 100 μ l of acidified isopropanol (0,04% HCl) to each well. To dissolve the tetrazolium crystals the plates were mixed on a plate shaker for 10 min at room temperature Absorbance at 595 nm was read in EnVisionTM 2103 Multilabel Reader (Perkin Elmer).

2.6 RNA Extraction

RNA was extracted from isolated islets or hepatocytes using a commercial kit (Trizol reagent, Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A further step of RNA purification was made with a phenol-chloroform procedure. The RNA concentration and purity was determined with the NanoDrop spectrophotometer ND-1000. For qRT-PCR, 1 mg of total RNA was reverse-transcribed by using the QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen) in a total volume of 20ml, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.7 Microarray

cRNA was generated by using the Affymetrix One-Cycle Target Labeling and Control Reagent kit (Affymetrix Inc), according to the manufacturer's instructions, starting from 5 µg of total RNA. Biotinylated cRNA was hybridized to the Mouse MOE 430 2.0 Genome Arrays (Affymetrix). Chips were washed and scanned on the Affymetrix Complete GeneChip System, generating digitized image data (DAT) files. The datasets obtained were analyzed with GeneSpring GX 12 Software (Agilent Technologies). Robust multichip average (RMA) algorithm [283] was used for summarization and normalization. Hybridization quality was assessed by spiked-in controls. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was performed to check data quality that resulted adequate for all samples. Transcripts were filtered by their signal intensity values, selecting transcripts with intensity values between 20 and 100 percentile in at least 1 out of each set samples for differential analysis.

Differentially expressed transcripts between exposed islets vs controls were filtered for absolute fold-change ≥ 1.5 and corrected p-value ≤ 0.05 . Statistical analysis was performed using Oneway ANOVA adjusted for multiple comparison by the Benjamini-Hochberg method.

Functional annotation for differentially expressed transcripts was performed using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA; http://www.ingenuity.com), a web-based tool for the identification of biological functions as well as canonical pathways that are most significant to the dataset. Fisher Exact test was used to calculate the p-value determining the likelihood that the association between the set of focus genes in the dataset and a given process or pathway is due to chance alone. Corrected p-value calculation (based on the Benjamini-Hochberg method) controlled the error rate in analysis results and focus in on the most significant biological functions associated with DEG.

2.8 Real Time PCRs

The qRT-PCR experiments were conducted using Applied Biosystem 7300 Real-Time PCR System and Power SYBR Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems). Result analysis was performed following real-time relative quantization guidelines through the relative standard curve method as suggested by Applied Biosystems. Briefly, the amplification efficiency of each primer pair was calculated from triplicate relative standard curves for each primer pair using the equation E = 10 - 1/slope and then used to convert Ct values obtained from each reaction into relative-expression units. Data obtained in this way were then normalized on the relative expression of three reference genes (Gapdh, Tubulin and b-2-microglobulin [B2M]) [284]. Primers were designed using NCBI Primer Blast tool (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast/) Primer sequences used in the study are listed in Table 2.

Gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer			
Bax	ACAGATCATGAAGACAGGGG	CAAAGTAGAAGAGGGCAACC			
Sod2	CGTGAACAATCTCAACGCCACCGA	CCTCCAGCAACTCTCCTTTGGGTT			
Uqrcb	GCGGGCCGATCTGCTGTTTC	GCCTCATAGTCAGGTCCAGGGCT			
Gpx3	AAACAGGAGCCAGGCGAGAACT	CCCGTTCACATCTCCTTTCTCAAA			
Ttc35	AGCAGGTCATGATTGCAGCCCT	ACGCTTTCTGGCAGCAGTGTT			
Vapa	GAGATGTGTGTGTTTGAAATGCCGA	GGTCCGTCTTGTTTGGATGC			
Ndufs4	TGGCTACAGCTGCCGTTTCCG	GGTCAGCGGTTGATGCCCAA			
Zfand2a	ACCCGTGAGTGCCAGGTGAT	AACAGTGCTTCCCCAAGTCAGGA			
Iars	GACTTGGAGGAGGTAGTGTGC	GATGGGATGGTCAGGTGGTC			
Atp1b1	CTTCCGTCCTAATGACCCCA	TGATTGATGTCGCCCCGTTC			
Atp6v1f	ATCGAAGACACTTTCAGGCAA	ATGCTCCTTGGACGGGATCT			
Gapdh	ACCACAGTCCATGCCATCAC	CACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCC			
Tub	CAACACCTTCTTCAGTGAGACAGG	TACATGATCTCCTTGCCAATGGT			
B2M	CCGAACATACTGAACTGCTA	TGCTATTTCTTTCTGCGTGC			

TABLE 2 Primers sequences

2.9 ATPlite assay

In order to assess the cells ATP production a luminescence assay based on firefly luciferase (ATPliteTM assay, Perkin Helmer) was performed on hepatocytes or dispersed islets in 96-well black plates according to manufacturer's instructions. The ATPLite assay involved adding a 50 μ l lysis solution to each well of a 96-well plate followed by a 50 μ l substrate solution. The plates were dark-adapted, and luminescence was measured in Orion II microplate luminometer (Berthold Detection Systems GmbH) giving comparative adenosine triphosphate levels.

2.10 TUNEL assay

Apoptotic cells were visualized by using a terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick-end labeling (TUNEL) assay kit (In Situ Cell Death Kit, Fluorescein, Roche Applied Science) according to manufacturer's instructions. In brief, after islets dispersion, the cells were plated in an 8-well slide chamber and treated for 48h with diverse concentration of BPA or with only vehicle for three controls, untreated (C), Negative Control (CN), and Positive Control (CP). At the end of the treatment the cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilized with 0.1% sodium citrate and 0.1% Triton X-100. Then, the samples were incubated in the TUNEL reaction mixture for 1 h at 37 °C in dark. For CP, the cells were previously treated with DNase I for 10 min at 15 to 25°C, and for CN, the cells were incubated with label solution without terminal transferase, instead of the TUNEL reaction mixture. After the reaction was completed, the slides were rinsed with PBS, counterstained with a 1µg/mL DAPI solution and mounted. The number of apoptotic nuclei and total number of nuclei were determined under a fluorescence microscope

2.11 Statistical and bioinformatics analyses

The statistical analyses have been performed with Student's t test using Office Excel for Window, unless otherwise indicated. In all cases, probability p-values below 0.05 were considered significant. Data from at least three independent experiments were considered for the statistical analysis. To retrieve the hypothetical transcriptional factors binding sites in the genes promoter, their sequence ranging from –1000/+50 bp has been loaded in Genomatix suite software (Genomatix Software GmbH, http://www.genomatix.de/) and analyzed at the relative profile score of the 80% [285].

3 Results

3.1 Low doses of BPA does not alter the murine pancreatic islets morphology

To assess the influence of BPA on murine pancreatic islets vitality and morphology, after the isolation and plating they were treated, for 48 hours, with different doses of BPA, 1x10⁻⁴, 1x10⁻⁶, 1x10⁻⁹ M and to 5x10⁻² M of glucose, as positive control. The exposure to BPA did not induce macroscopic changes in the morphology of the islets at the lower dose (1x10⁻⁹ M, Fig 12 D). The central necrotic core, typical of ex- vivo cultured islets, was clearly visible and border was clearly defined (Fig. 12 A and D). Nevertheless, at higher concentrations and in positive control this core was not visible, probably already expelled as the presence of large amount of debris near the islets suggests (Fig 12 B, C and E). Moreover, the morphology of these islets seems more granulated and less compact than the controls.



Fig. 12 Morphology of pancreatic islets after 48h treatments with BPA at diverse concentrations. Representative images of pancreatic islets at 40x magnification. Islets were exposed to: vehicle only (DMSO) **(A)**, $1x10^{-4}$ M **(B)**, $1x10^{-6}$ M **(C)**, $1x10^{-9}$ M **(D)** BPA or $5x10^{-2}$ M glucose **(E)**. Red arrows show the ejected necrotic central



3.2 BPA impairs murine pancreatic islet cells viability

Fig. 13 Murine islets cell viability as determined by MTT assay. *Islet cells were cultured in the presence or absence of* 1×10^{-4} *M*, 1×10^{-6} *M*, 1×10^{-9} BPA or 5×10^{-2} *M glucose for 24h* **(B)**, 48h **(C)**, 168h **(D)**. **(A)** *is a comparison of time response curve at diverse concentrations of BPA or glucose*. Data are reported as fold change value calculated as ratio between average absorbance in control and treated cells as the mean \pm standard deviation of at least three independent experiments.

* p-value<0.05; **p-value<0.01; ***p-value<0.001 compared with untreated control cells

The MTT assay was used to investigate the effects of BPA at diverse concentrations on islet cells viability; treatment with to $5x10^{-2}$ M of glucose was used as positive control. The treatment was performed on disperses pancreatic islets and lasted 24h, 48h or 7 days. As it is visible in the Figure 13 A, BPA affected the viability of dispersed islets in a dose dependent manner. The concentration of $1x10^{-4}$ M had the strongest effect, completely comparable to that exerted by glucose $5x10^{-2}$ M. Treatment with BPA at $1x10^{-6}$ M had an intermediate effect while lowest concentration had a mild effect. Specifically, cells exposed to $1x10^{-6}$ and $1x10^{-9}$ M BPA for 24 hours did not exhibit any significant change in viability, whereas at $1x10^{-4}$ M BPA and $5x10^{-2}$ M glucose cell viability was significantly decreased to 75 or 63%, of that observed in control, respectively (Fig. 13 B). When the incubation time was extended to 48 hours, $1x10^{-4}$ M, $1x10^{-6}$ and $1x10^{-9}$ M BPA significantly reduced the viability of pancreatic cells to 61, 68, 79 % of that observed in unstimulated control cells (Fig. 13 C). After 7 days treatment (Fig. 13 D), glucose and $1x10^{-4}$ M BPA strongly affected the viability (23 and 32%) and a further decrease was also observed for cells treated with $1x10^{-6}$ M BPA (55%). No further decrease (82%) was observed upon treatment with 1x10-9 M BPA .

3.3 Microarray analysis: Low concentration of BPA alters murine pancreatic islets gene expressions

As stated in literature, pancreatic islets exposure to BPA is associated with multiple effects. Therefore, we performed a gene expression profile analyses (microarray) to have a global look of the transcriptional responses of the islets to low dose BPA. The explanted islets were treated for 48 hours with 1×10^{-9} M BPA or with only vehicle. The RNA was purified and subjected to microarray analysis. To minimize the effects of inter-individual variations we organized a system of pools of pancreas and then of RNA, following the scheme in figure 14. The use of mice from an inbred strain and of the pool system allowed minimizing the number of required animals.



Fig. 14 Pool system for microarray analysis. To minimize the effects of mice inter-individual variations, for each group, the islets from three pancreas were pooled, then re-divided in two parts for treatments. After collecting the two RNA for each group, treated and controls were pooled again and addressed to microarray analysis



(A): Volcano plots of microarray data in 48h 1x10⁻⁹M BPA treated islets compared to untreated control islets. The y-axis value is the negative logarithm base 10 of the corrected p value. A green horizontal line on the plot represents the user-defined significant threshold for p value. The x-axis is shown as the logarithm base 2 of the fold change in expression level between treated and control. The vertical green lines on the plot represent the user defined thresholds for fold change. Green dots down-regulated genes. (B): HeatMap from the same microarray data. In the right, there is a representative magnification of the genes that were found to be deregulated.

The microarray data were analyzed using the GeneSpring Software. A Volcano Plot of the data obtained is reported in Figure 15 A; it is a representation of the differential gene expressions between the control and the treated conditions. The Volcano plot allows the visualization of the relationship between fold-change and statistical significance [286]. A change of at least 1,5 fold (up or down) threshold was considered meaningful for the experiment. Surprisingly, the analysis gave only a small group of 29 **D**ifferential **E**xpressed **G**enes (DEGs, green color) and all of them were down-regulated. However, as visible in figure 15 A, the down-regulation was the general trend. Figure 15 B shows the heat map made from the analysis of the microarray data. The expression levels are represented by the pattern of colors as it is visible in the magnification done, where the genes having lower expression levels than the control samples, represented in green, are highlighted.

The DEGs and their respective fold changes and p-values are listed in the Table 3. Given the referred threshold of 1.5 fold-change, 29 genes (or pseudogenes) were found differentially expressed. More precisely a fold change ranged from -1.50 and -2.30 was found. Some of these genes codify for mitochondrial localized proteins involved in respiratory chain, in ROS detoxification process or in generation of insulin exocytosis signal (ATP synthesis and membrane hyperpolarization). Moreover, there are also genes involved in more generic mechanisms of the cell, such as polymerases, ribosomal proteins and MAPK.

Gene symbol	Fold	p- value	Genedescription	Refseq	
Gene symbol	change		Geneuescription	acc. numb.	
Uqcrb	-2,3	0,04	ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase binding protein	NM_026219	
Gpx3	-2,07	0,01	glutathione peroxidase 3	NM_001083929	
Ttc35	-1,91	0,02	tetratricopeptide repeat domain 35	NM_025736	
Alg3	-1,88	0,05	asparagine-linked glycosylation 3 homolog	NM_145939	
Rpl23	-1,84	0,04	ribosomal protein L23	NM_022891	
Cript	-1,84	0,02	cysteine-rich PDZ-binding protein	NM_019936	
Ptplb	-1,76	0,03	protein tyrosine phosphatase-like	NM_023587	
Mat2a	-1,75	0,02	methionine adenosyltransferase II, alpha	NM_145569	
Zfand2a	-1,73	0,05	zinc finger, AN1-type domain 2°	NM_133349	
Snora23	-1,72	0,03	small nucleolar RNA, H/ACA box 23	NR_033336	
Ndufs4	-1,69	0,03	NADH dehydrogenase (ubiquinone) Fe-S protein 4	NM_010887	
Tm9sf3	-1,69	0,04	transmembrane 9 superfamily member 3	NM_133352	
BC031181	-1,67	0,04			
Mapk1ip1l	-1,66	0,03	mitogen-activated protein kinase 1 interacting protein 1-like	NM_178684	
Aff2	-1,66	0,01	AF4/FMR2 family, member 2	NM_008032	
Rpp38	-1,65	0,05	ribonuclease P/MRP 38 subunit (human)	NM_001013376	
Atp1b1	-1,64	0,03	ATPase, Na+/K+ transporting, beta 1 polypeptide	NM_009721	
Rps20	-1,62	0,01	ribosomal protein S20	NM_026147	
2900064A13Rik	-1,58	0,03	RIKEN cDNA 2900064A13 gene		
Rps11	-1,57	0,04	ribosomal protein S11	NM_013725	
Iars	-1,56	0,02	isoleucine-tRNA synthetase	NM_172015	
Sod2	-1,55	0,04	superoxide dismutase 2, mitochondrial	NM_013671	
MRF-1	-1,55	0,04	splicing factor, arginine/serine-rich 2 (SC-35)	NM_011358	
Vapa	-1,54	0,05	vesicle-associated membrane protein, associated protein A	NM_013933	
BC056474	-1,54	0,04			
Atp6v1f	-1,53	0,02	ATPase, H+ transporting, lysosomal V1 subunit F	NM_025381	
Tm2d1	-1,53	0,04	TM2 domain containing 1	NM_053157	
Tmem167b	-1,52	0,02	transmembrane protein 167B	NM_026198	
Polr2f	-1,51	0,03	polymerase (RNA) II (DNA directed) polypeptide F	NM_027231	

TABLE 3: Differential Expressed Genes

3.4 Microarray analysis: Low concentration of BPA impairs pancreatic murine islets mitochondrial functions

Additionally, to identify if the deregulated genes were involved in any fundamentally and biologically specific disorders, we performed an IPA Canonical Pathway analysis using the list of DEGs. As expected, this analysis gave only two deregulated Canonical Pathways and both pertaining to mitochondrial function: oxidative phosphorylation and mitochondrial dysfunction (Fig. 16).



3.5 Microarray validation: Low concentration of BPA alters genes involved in specific cell functions

Microarray results can be influenced by each step of the complex assay, from array manufacturing to sample preparation (extraction, labeling and hybridization) and image analysis. So a validation of expression differences accomplished by an alternative method is required. Quantitative Real time PCR (qRT-PCR) was the strategy chosen to perform this validation since it is rapid and applicable to samples

with limited amount of RNA [287]. We analyzed the gene expression of 9 out of 29 genes in a new experimental set. The genes were chosen according to properties or functions of the proteins for which they encode. Uqrcb (NM_026219) and Ndufs4 (NM_010887) encode for protein involved in the electrons transport chain; they are sub-units of complex III and complex I, respectively [103][104]. Gpx3 (NM_001083929) and Sod2 (NM_013671) encode well-known proteins involved in protection of the cell against free radicals. Gpx3 catalyzes the reduction of hydrogen peroxide, organic hydroperoxide, and lipid peroxides by reduced glutathione and functions in the protection of cells against oxidative damage [290]. Sod2 is a mitochondrial matrix enzyme that scavenges oxygen radicals produced by the extensive oxidation-reduction and electron transport reactions occurring in mitochondria [291]. Atp1b1 (NM_009721) encodes a beta subunit of the Na+/K+ ATPase pump that is involved in membrane depolarization and in the generation of exocytosis signal [292]. Atp6v1f (NM_013933) encodes a component of ATPase, which is able to generate ATP using the H+ gradient across the mitochondrial membrane [293]. Zfand2a (NM_133349) encodes the protein Airap that enhances the proteasome function during cell stress and is involved in disposal of protein aggregates [294]. Vapa (NM_013933) is a type IV membrane protein present in plasma membrane and intracellular vesicles or granules. It is involved in vesicle trafficking, membrane fusion and tight junction formation [295]. Iars (NM_172015) encode isoleucine-tRNA synthetase that catalyze the aminoacylation of tRNA by their cognate amino acid. Changes in the aminoacylation properties of tRNA-Ile (a loss of isoleucylation efficiency or acquisition of mischarging properties) have been associated to a glycogen and lipid accumulation and to decreased reactivity for cytochrome c oxidase in the muscle [296].



experiments.

* p-value<0.05; **p-value<0.01; ***p-value<0.001 compared with untreated control cells

To validate the microarray results, we prepared new sets of samples with the aim to analyze also the kinetic of the cellular level regulation of the above reported transcripts upon exposure to low dose of BPA. In the Figure 17 are represented the qRT-PCR results obtained using RNA prepared from islets treated with 1x10⁻⁹ M BPA at three different time-points of treatment, 24, 48 and 178 hours. The reported data confirmed their downregulation with significant p-values at 48 hours as resulted from microarray. Most of them had a gene expression inhibition equal or greater to that found with the analysis of microarray, ranging from fold change of -1.56 to -1.78 (Atp6v1f, Gpx3, Sod2, Iars, Ndufs4 and Uqcrb, Fig 17 A, B, C, and D), whereas 3 genes had a milder down-regulation (from -1.06 to -1.25, Atp1b1, Vapa, Zfand2a, Fig. 17 C and D). At 24

hours of treatment, 2 genes already are strongly downreguleted, over the cut-off of -1.5 (Atp1b1 -1.96, Gpx3 -1.92, Fig 17 A and C). Furthermore, 2 genes had a milder downregulation (Ndufs4 -1.43, Vapa -1.33, Fig. 17 B and D), whereas 5 genes had no significant expression inhibition (Sod2, Uqcrb, Atp6v1f, Iars, Zfand2a, Fig 17 A, B, C



Fig. 18 Hepatocyte primary cultures and their gene expression alteration.

A, *B*, *C*, *D*: Primary culture of murine liver cells. After 12 h of culture, parenchymal hepatocytes are attached to the dish's surface, and showed typical hexagonal cobblestone-like morphology with one or two round nuclei (*A*, 20X magnification). After 24 h, they spread on the dish's surface, establish intercellular contacts and maintain their morphology (*B*, 20X). After 48 h, they begin to assume a tapered shape but rounded nuclei are still visible (*C*, 10X). Parenchymal hepatocytes lost their epithelial cell morphology within 7 days in culture, and transformed into more flattened fibroblast-like cells (*D*, 10X). *E*: Albumin gene expression quantification as hepatocyte molecular marker by qRT-PCR. The data are reported as fold change values as ratio between average expression of albumin gene in MEFs and in diverse time cultured hepatocytes. *F*, *G*, *H*: expression alteration of selected genes in murine hepatocytes. Hepatocytes were cultured in presence or absence of 1x10-9M BPA for 24 h or 48 h. Data are reported as fold change values calculated as ratio between average gene expression in control and treated cells. The qRT-PCR results are expressed as the mean ± standard deviation of at least three independent experiments. * p-value<0.05; **p-value<0.01; ***p-value<0.001 compared with untreated control cells

and D). After 7 days of treatment the number of genes that had a significantly gene expression inhibition was reduced (Gpx3, Vapa, Zfand2a). The most of them had no significant variation and one, Atp6v1f, had even a mild upregulation in gene expression.

3.6 BPA has specific effects on murine pancreatic islets

To ensure that the alteration of the transcriptome was a specific effect of BPA on pancreatic islets, we decided to check the gene expression of the same genes on cells from another organ involved in glucose homeostasis, primary ex vivo murine hepatocytes. An in vivo and in vitro study, using hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (Hep2G) and C57/b6 mice injected with low doses, showed that BPA could alter liver enzyme (AST and ALT) and cytokines release (TNF- α and IL-6) [297]. In vivo data suggest that BPA is able to induce oxidative damage in liver after long and repeated exposure [298]. Moreover, another study demonstrated that BPA could alter the mitochondrial function in Hep2G cells enhancing ROS production [218]. The hepatocytes ware treated with 1x10⁻⁹ M BPA for 24h and 48h. The 168h treatment was not performed because of in vitro mesenchymal transition of ex vivo hepatocytes [299] (Fig. 18 A, B, C and D). This fibroblast-like conversion was confirmed comparing the mRNA levels of Albumin gene in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) with those in hepatocytes after 24h, 48h and 168h in culture by a qRT-PCR. After 7 days, hepatocytes had an Albumin gene expression 6 times lesser than 24h and 48h cultured hepatocytes (Fig. 18 E). As is visible in figure 18 F, G and H, the DEGs found in murine pancreatic islets, in this system were very stable and did not appear to be influenced by 1x10⁻⁹ M BPA treatment neither at 24h nor at 48h, with the exception of Sod2 and Gpx3 genes at 24h that appeared upregulated and downregulated, respectively. Thus, this data suggest that the effects detected in pancreatic islets transcriptome are specific and that the alterations on liver function, especially those on

mitochondria, observed by others authors are dependent to other mechanisms of disruption.



3.7 Low concentrations of BPA have no effect on ATP production

Fig. 19 Murine islets cell intracellular ATP concentration as determined by ATPlite assay. *Islet cells were cultured in the presence or absence of* 1×10^{-4} *M*, 1×10^{-6} *M*, 1×10^{-9} BPA or 5×10^{-2} *M glucose for 24h* **(B)**, 48h **(C)**, 168h **(D)**. **(A)** *is a comparison of time response curve at diverse concentrations of BPA or glucose. The data are compared with previously reported MTT assay results. Data are reported as fold change value calculated as ratio between average luminescence in control and treated cells as the mean* \pm standard deviation of 3–6 replicates from at least three independent experiments.

* p-value<0.05; **p-value<0.01; ***p-value<0.001 compared with untreated control cells

Considering the role that some of the reported genes have to the ATP production [103][104][108], we performed experiments to have a direct measure of the ATP production. ATP intracellular level was determined by the ATPLiteTM (PerkinElmer) and treatment with to $5x10^{-2}$ M glucose was used as positive control. The dispersed pancreatic islets were treated with diverse concentrations of BPA for 24h, 48h or 168h. As expected, since this assay is directly linked to the number of viable cells, the results

followed the same trend of those obtained with MTT assay, with a linear dose response curve (Fig. 19 A). In this case, the treatment with $1x10^{-4}$ M BPA affects the cells viability more than the treatment with $5x10^{-2}$ M glucose, while the time-response curves of treatments with $1x10^{-6}$ M and $1x10^{-9}$ M BPA are closer. However, comparing the results of ATPLiteTM assay with those of MTT is possible to see that there is not a significant reduction in ATP production, except at the highest concentration (Fig. 19 B, C and D).

3.8 BPA promotes apoptosis

The already reported results suggest that the exposure to BPA is able to affect the viability of the pancreatic cells. Furthermore, given the relevance as key organelles of the mitochondria for β -cell function, it is well known that their dysfunction or defects can trigger the apoptosis [245]. In this sense, we decided to assess the apoptosis at the single cell level with a TUNEL assay, by IF, on dispersed islets. For the realization of the TUNEL assay, we treated the samples 1×10^{-4} , 1×10^{-6} , 1×10^{-9} M BPA. The cells were stained with DAPI, to evidence the nuclei, and with the TUNEL reagent (Fig. 20). In the untreated samples there is no strong staining from TUNEL, only a weak background which indicates the absence of apoptosis (Fig. 20 A). In the panels representing the exposition to 1×10^{-4} , 1×10^{-6} M BPA (Fig. 20 B and C) a considerable signal of apoptosis is visible, with 25% of the cells displaying a strong apoptotic signal. In the cells exposed to 1×10^{-9} M BPA (Fig 20 D), we could observe that apoptosis was also present to a less extent then the higher concentrations.



Fig. 20 Pancreatic islet cells apoptosis induced by treatment with diverse concentration of BPA for 48 h as determined by IF-TUNEL assay. Representative images of apoptotic cells stained with DAPI, to *evidence nuclei, TUNEL reagent, to notice apoptosis and merged stains at 40x magnification. Islet cells were exposed to: vehicle only (DMSO) (A), 1x10⁻⁴M (B), 1x10⁻⁶ M (C), 1x10⁻⁹M (D) BPA or DNase 2000U (Positive Control) (E).*

3.9 BPA, but not E2, enhances Bax gene transcription specifically in murine pancreatic islets

After the TUNEL assay and the evidence that 1×10^{-9} M BPA could induce apoptosis in murine pancreatic islet cells, the analysis of the expression of a pro-apoptotic gene during was the chosen approach. We opted to determine the expression of Bax gene since it has been reported that induces cell death by acting on the mitochondria [300] and appears to be an essential gateway to mitochondrial dysfunction required for cell death in response to diverse stimuli [301]. We assessed the Bax transcript level in RNA prepared from islets or hepatocytes treated with 1x10⁻⁹ M BPA for 24 hours, 48 hours and 7 days. At this concentration in islets, a significant increase in the cellular amount of Bax mRNA in all the time-point analyzed was observed (Fig. 21 A). As expected, according to MTT results, the highest effect was observed at 48 hours with an upregulation of 2.5 time compared to control, while at 24h and 7 days the effect was lower but still significant (1.30 and 1.38, respectively). Moreover, the incubation of islets with the same concentration of E2 did not replicate this effect. Conversely, E2 protected the islets from apoptosis (-1.37, Fig. 21 B). In addition, to confirm he specificity of the effects 1×10^{-9} M BPA in our model, we performed the same assay on murine hepatocytes treated for 24h and 48h. As is visible in figure 21 C, the BPA induced a very mild increase of the gene expression, while at 48h this effect was no longer visible (Fig. 21 C).



are reported as fold change values calculated as ratio between average gene expression in control and treated islets or cells. The qRT-PCR results are expressed as the mean \pm standard deviation of at least three independent experiments.

* p-value<0.05; **p-value<0.01; ***p-value<0.001 compared with untreated control cells

3.10 BPA, in murine pancreatic islets, induces apoptosis enhancing ROS level and triggering NF-kB pathway

Recently we published that, in rat thyroid follicular cells, FRTL-5, low concentrations of BPA (ranging from 1×10^{-9} to 1×10^{-4} M) enhanced the expression of the thyroglobulin (Tg) gene acting on its promoter. Interestingly, two different antiestrogens, ICI 182780 (ICI) and tamoxifen (TAM) were not able to affect the BPA activity on the Tg-promoter, even if the estrogen receptor signaling was inducible by estrogen in this cellular setting. Upon the analysis of Tg promoter organization, we developed two FRTL-5 reporter cell lines stably expressing the luciferase gene under the control of a

NF-*k*B and RAR/RXR dependent promoters. We shown that BPA is able to induce the NF-*k*B and RAR/RXR signalling in our experimental condition [139]. Therefore, these results suggest that that BPA could exert its activity on this cell line not exclusively through ER signaling but involving also other cellular pathways. The activity of other nuclear receptors can be deregulated by BPA by different mechanisms (reviewed in [302]). Thus, we asked whether the BPA treatment could alter the pancreatic gene expression and induce apoptosis acting on the same or other transcription pathways. To this aim, we have identified by bioinformatic analysis (Genomatix database) the transcriptional factors whose binding sites can be predicted in the promoter region (-1000/+50)bp of our genes of interest (Atp1b1, Atp6v1f, Sod2, Gpx3, Uqcrb, Ndufs4 and Bax). Among the others, binding sites for NF-*k*B, retinoic acid receptors (RAR/RXR) and Fork head domain factors (FKHD) have been found (table 4). These binding sites were present in the promoter of all genes analyzed (Fig. 22). Specifically NF-*k*B had 8 match, RAR/RXR 29 and FKHD 41.

TABLE 4 Binding sites promoter analysis

Matrix Family	p-value	Total matches	Sod2	Ndufs4	Uqcrb	Gpx3	Atp1b1	Atp6v1f	Bax
NF <i>k</i> B	0,02	12	4	1	1	1	3	1	1
RAR/RXR	0,03	33	4	1	4	7	6	6	5
FKHD	0,03	47	6	6	12	8	2	7	6

Considering our previous experience, the bioinformatic analysis, the already shown ability of BPA to induce apoptosis and ROS increase [218][145] and their ability to activate NF*k*B related transcriptional pathway [303], we decide to focus our attention on three diverse pathways and on ROS production. We treated pancreatic murine islets for 48h with $1x10^{-9}$ M BPA and/or with 3mM N-Acetyl-1-cysteine (NAC), 10µM BMS 345541 (BMS), 10 µM LY294002 (LY) and 1µM ICI. NAC is a ROS scavenger that showed the ability to prevent insulin secretion inducted by ROS in rat pancreatic islets [304].



BMS is an I κ B kinase (IKK) inhibitor able to block the activation of NF κ B pathway; Chen et al., 2011, showed that it is able to improve islets xenograft survival inhibiting NF κ B pathway [305]. LY is a selective inhibitor of PI3K/Akt pathway and downstream FKHD activation. Its ability to amplify insulin release in rat pancreatic islets has been reported [306]. The already mentioned ICI was used by Alonso-Magdalena et al., 2008, to block insulin release inducted by low concentrations of BPA [263].

At the end of treatment, the RNA was purified and Bax transcript quantified by qRT-PCR. As reported in Fig. 23, the co-incubation with BPA and ICI or LY did not affect the upregulation of Bax, meaning that the apoptotic effect is not induced by the activation of ERs or through Akt pathway. Conversely, the presence of NAC and BMS significantly decreased the induction of Bax transcript (Fig. 23). Specifically, islets treated with BMS alone or BMS and BPA presented Bax mRNA level -1.25 and -1.5 times lesser than untreated islets, respectively. While islets treated with NAC alone or NAC and BPA had -1.1 and 1.25 fold changes compared to control islets, respectively. The data suggest that BPA could affect the islets viability by increasing the intracellular ROS levels and activating Nf*k*B pathways



* p-value<0.05; **p-value<0.01; ***p-value<0.001 compared with BPA only treated islets

4 Discussion

BPA is a polycarbonate used in numerous consumer products, including food and water containers, lining of food and beverage metal cans and medical tubing, becoming an important contaminant due to its ubiquitous presence and the increased exposure [106][108].

BPA exposure is associated with multiple diseases, such as reproductive system, nervous system and sexual dysfunctions as well as increased risk of cancer and heart disease [179][180]. Epidemiological correlation between BPA and the occurrence of diabetes has been found [307]. In vitro and in vivo studies have shown that exposure to low doses of BPA elicits alteration in insulinemia, pancreatic islets function and glucose homeostasis [238]. Moreover, in WAT, BPA is able to suppress the adiponectin and increase inflammatory cytokines (Tnf- α , IL-6,) release [108]. Given these effects, its prevalence in the environment and the presence in serum from humans worldwide, BPA may play a role in the rapid increase of incidence of metabolic disorders.

In this work, we studied the effects of BPA on ex vivo primary murine pancreatic islets through a toxicogenomical approach. We reported that exposure could decrease islet cells viability, alter the transcriptome, interfere with mitochondrial activity and other specific cell functions and increase the apoptosis in a dose-dependent manner. More importantly we found that BPA apoptosis pathway triggering is dependent to intracellular ROS levels elevation and activation of NF*k*B pathway.

We chose to study the effects of three different concentrations of BPA, $1x10^{-4}$ M, known to be cytotoxic, $1x10^{-6}$ M and $1x10^{-9}$ M to mimic worker and worldwide population exposure, respectively [182][183]. We focused on the effects of $1x10^{-9}$ M BPA, as it can be considered the environmental concentration. Moreover, the lower concentration used in this study can be considered a 'low dose' because estimates of

circulating levels of BPA at the LOAEL define an equivalent low-dose concentration as 2.19x10⁻⁷M in vitro culture studies [125][126].

To begin we inspected the effects of BPA on morphology of the pancreatic islets, after 48 hours of treatment. We could not observe relevant diameter or other gross alterations. On the other hand, from the three chosen concentrations we were able to observe that both 1×10^{-4} M, and 1×10^{-6} M BPA treatments appear to induce some changes in the morphology with the whole islet gaining a granulated aspect and a precocious loss of the necrotic central core (Fig 12). The formation of a necrotic core is typical of ex vivo cultured islets and is due to hypoxia of the cells in the central area. The islet throw out this core after few days in culture. Probably, the treatment with BPA loosens the compactness of the cells and allows a faster ejection of the necrotic core.

To investigate the cytotoxic effect of BPA we performed an MTT assay. We found that BPA significantly reduced islet cells viability in a dose- and time-dependent manner. Noteworthy, that $1x10^{-9}M$ BPA decrease the viability of 20% after 48 hours of treatment (Fig. 13), even if longer incubations did not induced further decrease, this suggest that low concentration of BPA could have an impact on islets viability and be detrimental for their health status.

The transcriptome analysis has been successfully applied in testing low doses EDCs in biological systems to identify non-standard toxicological endpoints [310]. This is particular powerful in the analysis of compounds, such as BPA, capable exerting effects at low doses and with a non-monotonic dose-response curve. The toxicogenomical approach through RNA microarray analysis allowed us to have a snapshot of the global status of the islets, indicating the main functions impaired and the further direction to follow to identify the processes and the pathways affected by BPA exposure.

The analysis of microarray data gave a short list of 29 downregulated DEGs (table 3). Among genes involved in generic cell functions, there was a large part of genes encoding for mitochondrial localized proteins, indicating the mitochondrion as the key organelle affected by BPA exposure. This was confirmed by IPA analysis that identified mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative phosphorylation as the most deregulated canonical pathways (Fig 16). Mitochondria are critical for the regulation of β -cell mass and maintenance of β -cell function through the coupling of glucose stimulus to insulin release [170][185]. Indeed, a recent study indicated that Wistar rat offspring perinatally exposed to 50 µg/kg/day BPA present profound mitochondrial structural defects in β -cells that precede any observable alterations in glucose homeostasis [311]. Moreover, exposure of isolated rat islets to 1.1x10⁻⁷ M BPA has also been reported to cause mitochondrial swelling, to alter the expression of typical mitochondrial genes, to decrease the activity of the mitochondrial respiratory enzyme COX IV, and to reduce ATP content [281]. Nevertheless, mitochondrial dysfunction at so low concentration of BPA in analysis of endocrine pancreatic islets was not yet found. Further experiments will be performed to analyze the proper mitochondrial functionality. Specifically we are current testing the BPA effects on mitochondrial morphology and abundance, on mitochondrial membrane potential and on mitochondrial ROS production.

From the list of genes obtained, we decided to further analyze 9 genes according to the function of the protein for which encode. For better understand the onset and the duration of these mitochondrial effects, we investigated, by qRT- PCR analysis, two more time-points, 24 hours and 7 days, beside the 48 hours for the microarray validation. The results showed 1x10⁻⁹M BPA produced greater effects in a range from 24 to 48 hours, while longer exposition did not produce further changes in gene expression (Fig. 17). Actually, after 7 days of treatment, the transcript level of most of the genes goes back up. This contradictory data could be explained with the shelf life in vitro of explanted primary islets. After 7 days of culture, they may lost many of their

characteristics, their metabolic and communication functionality. Most of the genes had the highest inhibition at 48 hours, confirming the correct choice of this time point for the microarray experiments, while only 2 genes out of 9 had a greater inhibition at 24 hours.

Among the genes we decided to further analyze, Ndufs4 and Uqcrb, both encoding for sub-unit of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. The down-regulation of these two genes (Fig. 17 B), as well as of ATP6v1f (Fig. 17 C), pointed to an impaired oxidative phosphorylation that may cause defects in glucose stimulated ATP production. In β cells, the levels of ATP directly regulate the ATP dependent K+ channels that in turn regulates the ability of the cell to secrete insulin. Adding that Atp1b1, also downregulated in our experiments (Fig. 17 C), is a subunit of K+ channels, we can hypothesize that BPA-induced mitochondrial damage might play a critical role in the development of pancreatic islets dysfunction. To support this hypothesis other authors epidemiologically linked type II diabetes and deregulation of the expression of gene involved in oxidative phosphorylation [312]. Actually, we tried to verify if there was a reduction of intracellular levels of ATP but we obtained significant results only at highest concentration (Fig. 19). Probably a low concentration of BPA, such 1x10⁻⁹M, is not able to produce this functional defect but predispose the cells to develop this type of damage. We are currently testing this hypothesis by examining the response of the islet cells to a co-incubation with 1×10^{-9} M BPA and 3×10^{-2} M glucose. We hypothesize that BPA exposure (or pre-exposure) could affect the ability of islet cells to have an appropriate response to an overcharge of their function.

Furthermore, down-regulation of expression of gene encoding proteins involved in the respiratory chain could lead to leakage of electrons and to higher production of ROS and other free radicals. Interestingly, we also found deregulated the expression of two genes, Sod2 and Gpx3 (Fig.17 A), which encode proteins exactly assigned to ROS and free radicals scavenging. Therefore, the BPA could damage the islets with a dual effect, enhancing the oxidative stress and lowering the cell defensive system and, thus,

promoting the apoptosis. Indeed the experiments shown in fig 20 showed that NAC (a well-known antioxidant) is able to decrease the expression of the pro-apoptotic Bax gene.

Iars encode isoleucine-tRNA synthetase. Isoleucine is an amino acid of predominant importance in human mitochondria [313]. For these reasons a loss of isoleucylation efficiency are expected to lead to important impairment of protein synthesis [296]. The downregulation of this gene expression, inducted by BPA (Fig. 17 D), could enhance the misfolding of mitochondrial localized proteins and promote their aggregation.

Finally, BPA showed to decrease the expression of Vapa (Fig. 17 D), which protein is involved I tight junction formation. Its downregulation could be linked to the observed reduced compactness of islets (Fig. 12), a clear sign of non-healthy islets.

As we expected, a low concentration of BPA, such as 1x10⁻⁹M, does not produce large alterations but may affect several cellular system and make the islets not able to efficaciously response to more insults. This bad predisposition is important in multifactorial and complex pathologies such as metabolic disorders.

One potential consequence of mitochondrial damage is the increase in apoptosis. Mitochondrial dysfunction ultimately leads to apoptosis and contributes to the development of diabetes [245]. In this sense, here we demonstrated that BPA exhibit a dose dependent role in the apoptosis of the islet cells, as it is visible in the figure 20, probably via activation of the mitochondrial pathway, as the up-regulation of Bax gene expression suggest (Fig. 21).

Federici et al. demonstrated in in vitro human islets cultured that high glucose induced apoptosis is consecutive to an increasing of Bax mRNA levels [314]. In our experiments, the expression of Bax was increased in all the time points tested when compared to control. In agreement with the MTT and the TUNEL assay, at 48 hours Bax reached 2.5-fold expression evidencing the pathway through which the apoptosis occurred.

The data of this study clearly point to a specific mechanism of action of BPA in pancreatic islet cells (Figs 18 e 21). Previous studies clearly demonstrated that BPA is a xenoextrogen acting through nuclear ERs and membrane bound ERs [238], but the data in figure 23 suggest that, in pancreatic islets ERs are not involved in the triggering of apoptosis. Indeed we propose that BPA, besides its estrogenic actions, promotes cell death increasing intracellular ROS and activating NF*k*B pathway. These results are in agreement with the findings that BPA exposure increase ROS cellular amount regulating NF*k*B pathway [315]. Figure 23, we showed that BMS, inhibitor of NF*k*B pathway, and NAC (antioxidant compound) are able to block the Bax transcript cellular level upon exposure to BPA (in co-treatment conditions). They exert to less extent the same effects also in BPA untreated islets, suggesting that the NF*k*B pathway is activated in the stressing condition deriving from the purification and culture of the islets.

Further functional experiments will be necessary to completely elucidate the mechanisms through which BPA promotes apoptosis in murine pancreatic islets. The results of this work are an in vitro (even if ex vivo) conceptual prove of the detrimental effects of BPA on pancreatic islets. Nevertheless, data from in vivo studies and longer exposure to low doses of BPA are required. To this aim, we are programming to transplant BPA treated islets in obese and diabetic mouse models that will be further treated with BPA intraperitoneally injected or oral administered to mimic the effects of environmental concentrations of BPA in metabolic disorders susceptible population. Furthermore, all the results will be confirmed in vivo in a zebrafish transgenic cell line carrying the GFP coding sequence under the control of the insulin promoter. Thus, the islets can be recognized and picked up from animal treated with environmental doses of BPA starting from fertilization and exposed for long time.
5 Conclusions

This work is a contribution to clarify the role of the endocrine disruption by BPA in the function of pancreatic islets. Data from the current study overwhelmingly indicate that BPA affects the viability and function of normal murine pancreatic islets and accelerates their rate of apoptosis in a dose-dependent manner. This is adding new knowledge on the role of BPA on diabetes development and progression that, until now, has been focused on the insulin resistance. We suggest that exposure to BPA alters the expression of key genes, induces mitochondrial defects, raises the intracellular ROS levels and ultimately triggers the apoptosis of islet cells. Despite the published role of estrogen and BPA on the secretion of insulin, here we show that the regulation of transcript level by BPA is not carried out through the estrogen receptors but involve the NF*k*B pathway, probably among others. The demonstration that BPA at environmental dose is able to affects the islets functions and viability are in agreement with the link between metabolic dysfunctions and BPA exposure proposed in literature and confirm that BPA could be an important environmental factor in metabolic disorders onset.

6 References

- W. Mnif, A. I. H. Hassine, A. Bouaziz, A. Bartegi, O. Thomas, and B. Roig, "Effect of endocrine disruptor pesticides: a review.," *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 2265–303, Jun. 2011.
- [2] N. Bechi, G. Sorda, A. Spagnoletti, J. Bhattacharjee, E. A. Vieira Ferro, B. de Freitas Barbosa, M. Frosini, M. Valoti, G. Sgaragli, L. Paulesu, and F. letta, "Toxicity assessment on trophoblast cells for some environment polluting chemicals and 17β-estradiol.," *Toxicol. In Vitro*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 995–1000, Apr. 2013.
- J. A. Rogers, L. Metz, and V. W. Yong, "Review: Endocrine disrupting chemicals and immune responses: a focus on bisphenol-A and its potential mechanisms.," *Mol. Immunol.*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 421–30, Apr. 2013.
- [4] E. Diamanti-Kandarakis, J.-P. Bourguignon, L. C. Giudice, R. Hauser, G. S. Prins, A. M. Soto, R. T.
 Zoeller, and A. C. Gore, "Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society scientific statement.," Endocr. Rev., vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 293–342, Jun. 2009.
- [5] H. Sasaya, "Apoptosis-inducing activity of endocrine-disrupting chemicals in cultured PC12 cells," *Adv. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 02, no. 02, pp. 92–105, May 2012.
- [6] A. Endocrine and S. Scientific, "Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals."
- [7] L. N. Vandenberg, T. Colborn, T. B. Hayes, J. J. Heindel, D. R. Jacobs, D.-H. Lee, T. Shioda, A. M. Soto, F. S. vom Saal, W. V Welshons, R. T. Zoeller, and J. P. Myers, "Hormones and endocrine-disrupting chemicals: low-dose effects and nonmonotonic dose responses.," *Endocr. Rev.*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 378–455, Jun. 2012.
- [8] J. M. Davis and D. J. Svendsgaard, "U-shaped dose-response curves: their occurrence and implications for risk assessment.," J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 71–83, Jun. 1990.
- R. Rezg, S. El-Fazaa, N. Gharbi, and B. Mornagui, "Bisphenol A and human chronic diseases: Current evidences, possible mechanisms, and future perspectives.," *Environ. Int.*, vol. 64C, pp. 83–90, Mar. 2014.
- [10] W. C. YOUNG, R. W. GOY, and C. H. PHOENIX, "HORMONES AND SEXUAL BEHAVIOR.," Science, vol. 143, no. 3603, pp. 212–8, Jan. 1964.
- [11] B. G. Timms, K. L. Howdeshell, L. Barton, S. Bradley, C. A. Richter, and F. S. vom Saal, "Estrogenic chemicals in plastic and oral contraceptives disrupt development of the fetal mouse prostate and urethra.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 102, no. 19, pp. 7014–9, May 2005.
- [12] L. S. Birnbaum and S. E. Fenton, "Cancer and developmental exposure to endocrine disruptors.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 111, no. 4, pp. 389–94, Apr. 2003.
- [13] S. G. Selevan, C. A. Kimmel, and P. Mendola, "Identifying critical windows of exposure for children's health.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 108 Suppl, pp. 451–5, Jun. 2000.

- [14] S.-M. Ho, W.-Y. Tang, J. Belmonte de Frausto, and G. S. Prins, "Developmental exposure to estradiol and bisphenol A increases susceptibility to prostate carcinogenesis and epigenetically regulates phosphodiesterase type 4 variant 4.," *Cancer Res.*, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 5624–32, Jun. 2006.
- [15] S. Singh and S. S.-L. Li, "Epigenetic effects of environmental chemicals bisphenol a and phthalates.," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 10143–53, Jan. 2012.
- [16] L. Liu, Y. Li, and T. O. Tollefsbol, "Gene-environment interactions and epigenetic basis of human diseases.," *Curr. Issues Mol. Biol.*, vol. 10, no. 1–2, pp. 25–36, Jan. 2008.
- [17] D. Roy and J. G. Liehr, "Estrogen, DNA damage and mutations.," Mutat. Res., vol. 424, no. 1–2, pp. 107–15, Mar. 1999.
- [18] A. Kabil, E. Silva, and A. Kortenkamp, "Estrogens and genomic instability in human breast cancer cells--involvement of Src/Raf/Erk signaling in micronucleus formation by estrogenic chemicals.," *Carcinogenesis*, vol. 29, no. 10, pp. 1862–8, Oct. 2008.
- [19] A. D. Correia, S. Freitas, M. Scholze, J. F. Goncalves, P. Booij, M. H. Lamoree, E. Mañanós, and M. A. Reis-Henriques, "Mixtures of estrogenic chemicals enhance vitellogenic response in sea bass.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 115 Suppl, pp. 115–21, Dec. 2007.
- [20] H. Zhang, F.-X. Kong, Y. Yu, X.-L. Shi, M. Zhang, and H.-E. Tian, "Assessing the combination effects of environmental estrogens in fish.," *Ecotoxicology*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 1476–86, Nov. 2010.
- [21] E. R. Levin, "Integration of the extranuclear and nuclear actions of estrogen.," *Mol. Endocrinol.*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 1951–9, Aug. 2005.
- [22] P. F. Pilch and M. P. Czech, "Hormone binding alters the conformation of the insulin receptor.," *Science*, vol. 210, no. 4474, pp. 1152–3, Dec. 1980.
- [23] L. A. Luck, J. L. Barse, A. M. Luck, and C. H. Peck, "Conformational changes in the human estrogen receptor observed by (19)F NMR.," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 270, no. 3, pp. 988–91, Apr. 2000.
- [24] G. F. Allan, S. Y. Tsai, M. J. Tsai, and B. W. O'Malley, "Ligand-dependent conformational changes in the progesterone receptor are necessary for events that follow DNA binding.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A., vol. 89, no. 24, pp. 11750–4, Dec. 1992.
- [25] J. A. Schwartz and D. F. Skafar, "Ligand-mediated modulation of estrogen receptor conformation by estradiol analogs.," *Biochemistry*, vol. 32, no. 38, pp. 10109–15, Sep. 1993.
- [26] R. V Weatherman, C.-Y. Chang, N. J. Clegg, D. C. Carroll, R. N. Day, J. D. Baxter, D. P. McDonnell, T. S. Scanlan, and F. Schaufele, "Ligand-selective interactions of ER detected in living cells by fluorescence resonance energy transfer.," *Mol. Endocrinol.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 487–96, Mar. 2002.
- [27] V. Vijayanathan, N. J. Greenfield, T. J. Thomas, M. M. Ivanova, V. V Tyulmenkov, C. M. Klinge, M. A. Gallo, and T. Thomas, "Effects of estradiol and 4-hydroxytamoxifen on the conformation, thermal stability, and DNA recognition of estrogen receptor beta.," *Biochem. Cell Biol.*, vol. 85, no. 1, pp. 1–10, Feb. 2007.

- [28] H. Watanabe, A. Suzuki, M. Kobayashi, D. B. Lubahn, H. Handa, and T. Iguchi, "Similarities and differences in uterine gene expression patterns caused by treatment with physiological and nonphysiological estrogens.," J. Mol. Endocrinol., vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 487–97, Dec. 2003.
- [29] T. Adachi, K.-B. Koh, H. Tainaka, Y. Matsuno, Y. Ono, K. Sakurai, H. Fukata, T. Iguchi, M. Komiyama, and C. Mori, "Toxicogenomic difference between diethylstilbestrol and 17beta-estradiol in mouse testicular gene expression by neonatal exposure.," *Mol. Reprod. Dev.*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 19–25, Jan. 2004.
- [30] S. Wu, X. Wei, J. Jiang, L. Shang, and W. Hao, "Effects of bisphenol A on the proliferation and cell cycle of HBL-100 cells.," *Food Chem. Toxicol.*, vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 3100–5, Sep. 2012.
- [31] H. B. Patisaul, P. L. Whitten, and L. J. Young, "Regulation of estrogen receptor beta mRNA in the brain: opposite effects of 17beta-estradiol and the phytoestrogen, coumestrol.," *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 165–71, Apr. 1999.
- [32] C. S. Watson, R. A. Alyea, Y.-J. Jeng, and M. Y. Kochukov, "Nongenomic actions of low concentration estrogens and xenoestrogens on multiple tissues.," *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, vol. 274, no. 1–2, pp. 1–7, Aug. 2007.
- [33] E. Silva, A. Kabil, and A. Kortenkamp, "Cross-talk between non-genomic and genomic signalling pathways--distinct effect profiles of environmental estrogens.," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.*, vol. 245, no. 2, pp. 160–70, Jun. 2010.
- [34] P. Ciana, F. Scarlatti, A. Biserni, L. Ottobrini, A. Brena, A. Lana, F. Zagari, G. Lucignani, and A. Maggi, "The dynamics of estrogen receptor activity.," *Maturitas*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 315–20, Jul. 2006.
- [35] A. L. Wozniak, N. N. Bulayeva, and C. S. Watson, "Xenoestrogens at picomolar to nanomolar concentrations trigger membrane estrogen receptor-alpha-mediated Ca2+ fluxes and prolactin release in GH3/B6 pituitary tumor cells.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 113, no. 4, pp. 431–9, Apr. 2005.
- [36] A. Nadal, M. Díaz, and M. A. Valverde, "The estrogen trinity: membrane, cytosolic, and nuclear effects.," *News Physiol. Sci.*, vol. 16, pp. 251–5, Dec. 2001.
- [37] S. Takayanagi, T. Tokunaga, X. Liu, H. Okada, A. Matsushima, and Y. Shimohigashi, "Endocrine disruptor bisphenol A strongly binds to human estrogen-related receptor gamma (ERRgamma) with high constitutive activity.," *Toxicol. Lett.*, vol. 167, no. 2, pp. 95–105, Dec. 2006.
- [38] A. C. Gore, "Neuroendocrine targets of endocrine disruptors.," *Hormones (Athens).*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 16–27.
- [39] S. A. Whitehead and S. Rice, "Endocrine-disrupting chemicals as modulators of sex steroid synthesis.," *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 45–61, Mar. 2006.
- [40] A. C. Holloway, D. A. Anger, D. J. Crankshaw, M. Wu, and W. G. Foster, "Atrazine-induced changes in aromatase activity in estrogen sensitive target tissues.," J. Appl. Toxicol., vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 260–70, Apr. 2008.
- [41] J.-M. Pascussi, S. Gerbal-Chaloin, C. Duret, M. Daujat-Chavanieu, M.-J. Vilarem, and P. Maurel, "The tangle of nuclear receptors that controls xenobiotic metabolism and transport: crosstalk and consequences.," *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, vol. 48, pp. 1–32, Jan. 2008.

- [42] W. Mnif, J.-M. Pascussi, A. Pillon, A. Escande, A. Bartegi, J.-C. Nicolas, V. Cavaillès, M.-J. Duchesne, and P. Balaguer, "Estrogens and antiestrogens activate hPXR.," *Toxicol. Lett.*, vol. 170, no. 1, pp. 19– 29, Apr. 2007.
- [43] F. Ohtake, K. Takeyama, T. Matsumoto, H. Kitagawa, Y. Yamamoto, K. Nohara, C. Tohyama, A. Krust, J. Mimura, P. Chambon, J. Yanagisawa, Y. Fujii-Kuriyama, and S. Kato, "Modulation of oestrogen receptor signalling by association with the activated dioxin receptor.," *Nature*, vol. 423, no. 6939, pp. 545–50, May 2003.
- [44] R. J. Kavlock, G. P. Daston, C. DeRosa, P. Fenner-Crisp, L. E. Gray, S. Kaattari, G. Lucier, M. Luster, M. J. Mac, C. Maczka, R. Miller, J. Moore, R. Rolland, G. Scott, D. M. Sheehan, T. Sinks, and H. A. Tilson, "Research needs for the risk assessment of health and environmental effects of endocrine disruptors: a report of the U.S. EPA-sponsored workshop.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 104 Suppl , pp. 715–40, Aug. 1996.
- [45] L. A. Wise, J. R. Palmer, E. E. Hatch, R. Troisi, L. Titus-Ernstoff, A. L. Herbst, R. Kaufman, K. L. Noller, and R. N. Hoover, "Secondary sex ratio among women exposed to diethylstilbestrol in utero.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 115, no. 9, pp. 1314–9, Sep. 2007.
- [46] W. Karmaus, S. Huang, and L. Cameron, "Parental concentration of dichlorodiphenyl dichloroethene and polychlorinated biphenyls in Michigan fish eaters and sex ratio in offspring.," J. Occup. Environ. Med., vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 8–13, Jan. 2002.
- [47] P. Mocarelli, P. Brambilla, P. M. Gerthoux, D. G. Patterson, and L. L. Needham, "Change in sex ratio with exposure to dioxin.," *Lancet*, vol. 348, no. 9024, p. 409, Aug. 1996.
- [48] P. Mendola, L. C. Messer, and K. Rappazzo, "Science linking environmental contaminant exposures with fertility and reproductive health impacts in the adult female.," *Fertil. Steril.*, vol. 89, no. 2 Suppl, pp. e81–94, Feb. 2008.
- [49] M. Sugiura-Ogasawara, Y. Ozaki, S. Sonta, T. Makino, and K. Suzumori, "Exposure to bisphenol A is associated with recurrent miscarriage.," *Hum. Reprod.*, vol. 20, no. 8, pp. 2325–9, Aug. 2005.
- [50] L. Crisostomo and V. V Molina, "Pregnancy outcomes among farming households of Nueva Ecija with conventional pesticide use versus integrated pest management.," *Int. J. Occup. Environ. Health*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 232–42.
- [51] V. F. Garry, D. Schreinemachers, M. E. Harkins, and J. Griffith, "Pesticide appliers, biocides, and birth defects in rural Minnesota.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 104, no. 4, pp. 394–9, Apr. 1996.
- [52] P. Kristensen, L. M. Irgens, A. Andersen, A. S. Bye, and L. Sundheim, "Gestational age, birth weight, and perinatal death among births to Norwegian farmers, 1967-1991.," *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, vol. 146, no. 4, pp. 329–38, Aug. 1997.
- [53] R. M. Whyatt, V. Rauh, D. B. Barr, D. E. Camann, H. F. Andrews, R. Garfinkel, L. A. Hoepner, D. Diaz, J. Dietrich, A. Reyes, D. Tang, P. L. Kinney, and F. P. Perera, "Prenatal insecticide exposures and birth weight and length among an urban minority cohort.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 112, no. 10, pp. 1125–32, Jul. 2004.
- [54] M. P. Longnecker, M. A. Klebanoff, D. B. Dunson, X. Guo, Z. Chen, H. Zhou, and J. W. Brock,
 "Maternal serum level of the DDT metabolite DDE in relation to fetal loss in previous pregnancies.," *Environ. Res.*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 127–33, Feb. 2005.

- [55] D. A. Crain, S. J. Janssen, T. M. Edwards, J. Heindel, S. Ho, P. Hunt, T. Iguchi, A. Juul, J. A. McLachlan, J. Schwartz, N. Skakkebaek, A. M. Soto, S. Swan, C. Walker, T. K. Woodruff, T. J. Woodruff, L. C. Giudice, and L. J. Guillette, "Female reproductive disorders: the roles of endocrine-disrupting compounds and developmental timing.," *Fertil. Steril.*, vol. 90, no. 4, pp. 911–40, Oct. 2008.
- [56] P. Rachootin and J. Olsen, "The risk of infertility and delayed conception associated with exposures in the Danish workplace.," *J. Occup. Med.*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 394–402, May 1983.
- [57] S.-H. Chang, B.-H. Cheng, S.-L. Lee, H.-Y. Chuang, C.-Y. Yang, F.-C. Sung, and T.-N. Wu, "Low blood lead concentration in association with infertility in women.," *Environ. Res.*, vol. 101, no. 3, pp. 380– 6, Jul. 2006.
- [58] K. G. Harley, A. R. Marks, A. Bradman, D. B. Barr, and B. Eskenazi, "DDT exposure, work in agriculture, and time to pregnancy among farmworkers in California.," J. Occup. Environ. Med., vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 1335–42, Dec. 2008.
- [59] A. R. Greenlee, T. E. Arbuckle, and P.-H. Chyou, "Risk factors for female infertility in an agricultural region.," *Epidemiology*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 429–36, Jul. 2003.
- [60] K. M. Curtis, D. A. Savitz, C. R. Weinberg, and T. E. Arbuckle, "The effect of pesticide exposure on time to pregnancy.," *Epidemiology*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 112–7, Mar. 1999.
- [61] A. Abell, S. Juul, and J. P. Bonde, "Time to pregnancy among female greenhouse workers.," *Scand. J. Work. Environ. Health*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 131–6, Apr. 2000.
- [62] L. Fuortes, M. K. Clark, H. L. Kirchner, and E. M. Smith, "Association between female infertility and agricultural work history.," *Am. J. Ind. Med.*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 445–51, Apr. 1997.
- [63] D. C. G. Law, M. A. Klebanoff, J. W. Brock, D. B. Dunson, and M. P. Longnecker, "Maternal serum levels of polychlorinated biphenyls and 1,1-dichloro-2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)ethylene (DDE) and time to pregnancy.," Am. J. Epidemiol., vol. 162, no. 6, pp. 523–32, Sep. 2005.
- [64] B. A. Cohn, P. M. Cirillo, M. S. Wolff, P. J. Schwingl, R. D. Cohen, R. I. Sholtz, A. Ferrara, R. E. Christianson, B. J. van den Berg, and P. K. Siiteri, "DDT and DDE exposure in mothers and time to pregnancy in daughters.," *Lancet*, vol. 361, no. 9376, pp. 2205–6, Jun. 2003.
- [65] I. Gerhard, B. Monga, J. Krähe, and B. Runnebaum, "Chlorinated hydrocarbons in infertile women.," *Environ. Res.*, vol. 80, no. 4, pp. 299–310, May 1999.
- [66] A. Axmon, L. Rylander, U. Strömberg, B. Jönsson, P. Nilsson-Ehle, and L. Hagmar, "Polychlorinated biphenyls in serum and time to pregnancy.," *Environ. Res.*, vol. 96, no. 2, pp. 186–95, Oct. 2004.
- [67] M. L. Yu, Y. L. Guo, C. C. Hsu, and W. J. Rogan, "Menstruation and reproduction in women with polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) poisoning: long-term follow-up interviews of the women from the Taiwan Yucheng cohort.," *Int. J. Epidemiol.*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 672–7, Aug. 2000.
- [68] C. Fei, J. K. McLaughlin, L. Lipworth, and J. Olsen, "Maternal levels of perfluorinated chemicals and subfecundity.," *Hum. Reprod.*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 1200–5, May 2009.
- [69] F. Ouyang, M. J. Perry, S. A. Venners, C. Chen, B. Wang, F. Yang, Z. Fang, T. Zang, L. Wang, X. Xu, and X. Wang, "Serum DDT, age at menarche, and abnormal menstrual cycle length.," *Occup. Environ. Med.*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 878–84, Dec. 2005.

- [70] O. Vasiliu, J. Muttineni, and W. Karmaus, "In utero exposure to organochlorines and age at menarche.," *Hum. Reprod.*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 1506–12, Jul. 2004.
- [71] E. Den Hond, H. A. Roels, K. Hoppenbrouwers, T. Nawrot, L. Thijs, C. Vandermeulen, G. Winneke, D. Vanderschueren, and J. A. Staessen, "Sexual maturation in relation to polychlorinated aromatic hydrocarbons: Sharpe and Skakkebaek's hypothesis revisited.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 110, no. 8, pp. 771–6, Aug. 2002.
- [72] M. Denham, L. M. Schell, G. Deane, M. V Gallo, J. Ravenscroft, and A. P. DeCaprio, "Relationship of lead, mercury, mirex, dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene, hexachlorobenzene, and polychlorinated biphenyls to timing of menarche among Akwesasne Mohawk girls.," *Pediatrics*, vol. 115, no. 2, pp. e127–34, Feb. 2005.
- [73] S. G. Selevan, D. C. Rice, K. A. Hogan, S. Y. Euling, A. Pfahles-Hutchens, and J. Bethel, "Blood lead concentration and delayed puberty in girls.," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 348, no. 16, pp. 1527–36, Apr. 2003.
- [74] H. M. Blanck, M. Marcus, P. E. Tolbert, C. Rubin, A. K. Henderson, V. S. Hertzberg, R. H. Zhang, and L. Cameron, "Age at menarche and tanner stage in girls exposed in utero and postnatally to polybrominated biphenyl.," *Epidemiology*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 641–7, Nov. 2000.
- J. R. Palmer, A. L. Herbst, K. L. Noller, D. A. Boggs, R. Troisi, L. Titus-Ernstoff, E. E. Hatch, L. A. Wise,
 W. C. Strohsnitter, and R. N. Hoover, "Urogenital abnormalities in men exposed to diethylstilbestrol in utero: a cohort study.," *Environ. Health*, vol. 8, p. 37, Jan. 2009.
- [76] H. Klip, J. Verloop, J. D. van Gool, M. E. T. A. Koster, C. W. Burger, and F. E. van Leeuwen,
 "Hypospadias in sons of women exposed to diethylstilbestrol in utero: a cohort study.," *Lancet*, vol. 359, no. 9312, pp. 1102–7, Mar. 2002.
- [77] M. M. Brouwers, W. F. J. Feitz, L. A. J. Roelofs, L. A. L. M. Kiemeney, R. P. E. de Gier, and N. Roeleveld, "Hypospadias: a transgenerational effect of diethylstilbestrol?," *Hum. Reprod.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 666–9, Mar. 2006.
- [78] M. F. Fernandez, B. Olmos, A. Granada, M. J. López-Espinosa, J.-M. Molina-Molina, J. M. Fernandez, M. Cruz, F. Olea-Serrano, and N. Olea, "Human exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals and prenatal risk factors for cryptorchidism and hypospadias: a nested case-control study.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 115 Suppl, pp. 8–14, Dec. 2007.
- [79] Y. L. Giwercman, K. E. Kleist, A. Giwercman, C. Giwercman, G. Toft, J.-P. Bonde, and H. S. Pedersen, "Remarkably low incidence of hypospadias in Greenland despite high exposure to endocrine disrupters; possible protective effect of androgen receptor genotype.," *Pharmacogenet. Genomics*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 375–7, May 2006.
- [80] S. H. Swan, K. M. Main, F. Liu, S. L. Stewart, R. L. Kruse, A. M. Calafat, C. S. Mao, J. B. Redmon, C. L. Ternand, S. Sullivan, and J. L. Teague, "Decrease in anogenital distance among male infants with prenatal phthalate exposure.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 113, no. 8, pp. 1056–61, Aug. 2005.
- [81] Y. L. Guo, P. C. Hsu, C. C. Hsu, and G. H. Lambert, "Semen quality after prenatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dibenzofurans.," *Lancet*, vol. 356, no. 9237, pp. 1240–1, Oct. 2000.

- [82] P.-C. Hsu, W. Huang, W.-J. Yao, M.-H. Wu, Y. L. Guo, and G. H. Lambert, "Sperm changes in men exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls and dibenzofurans.," *JAMA*, vol. 289, no. 22, pp. 2943–4, Jun. 2003.
- [83] S. M. Duty, A. M. Calafat, M. J. Silva, J. W. Brock, L. Ryan, Z. Chen, J. Overstreet, and R. Hauser, "The relationship between environmental exposure to phthalates and computer-aided sperm analysis motion parameters.," *J. Androl.*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 293–302.
- [84] R. Hauser, J. D. Meeker, S. Duty, M. J. Silva, and A. M. Calafat, "Altered semen quality in relation to urinary concentrations of phthalate monoester and oxidative metabolites.," *Epidemiology*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 682–91, Nov. 2006.
- [85] A. Natalicchio, R. Labarbuta, F. Tortosa, G. Biondi, N. Marrano, A. Peschechera, E. Carchia, M. R. Orlando, A. Leonardini, A. Cignarelli, P. Marchetti, S. Perrini, L. Laviola, and F. Giorgino, "Exendin-4 protects pancreatic beta cells from palmitate-induced apoptosis by interfering with GPR40 and the MKK4/7 stress kinase signalling pathway.," *Diabetologia*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 2456–66, Nov. 2013.
- [86] G. C. Windham, D. Lee, P. Mitchell, M. Anderson, M. Petreas, and B. Lasley, "Exposure to organochlorine compounds and effects on ovarian function.," *Epidemiology*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 182– 90, Mar. 2005.
- [87] G. S. Cooper, M. A. Klebanoff, J. Promislow, J. W. Brock, and M. P. Longnecker, "Polychlorinated biphenyls and menstrual cycle characteristics.," *Epidemiology*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 191–200, Mar. 2005.
- [88] B. Eskenazi, M. Warner, P. Mocarelli, S. Samuels, L. L. Needham, D. G. Patterson, S. Lippman, P. Vercellini, P. M. Gerthoux, P. Brambilla, and D. Olive, "Serum dioxin concentrations and menstrual cycle characteristics.," Am. J. Epidemiol., vol. 156, no. 4, pp. 383–92, Aug. 2002.
- [89] B. L. Strom, R. Schinnar, E. E. Ziegler, K. T. Barnhart, M. D. Sammel, G. A. Macones, V. A. Stallings, J. M. Drulis, S. E. Nelson, and S. A. Hanson, "Exposure to soy-based formula in infancy and endocrinological and reproductive outcomes in young adulthood.," *JAMA*, vol. 286, no. 7, pp. 807–14, Aug. 2001.
- [90] M. Veurink, M. Koster, and L. T. W. de J. den Berg, "The history of DES, lessons to be learned.," *Pharm. World Sci.*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 139–43, Jun. 2005.
- [91] J. R. Palmer, L. A. Wise, E. E. Hatch, R. Troisi, L. Titus-Ernstoff, W. Strohsnitter, R. Kaufman, A. L. Herbst, K. L. Noller, M. Hyer, and R. N. Hoover, "Prenatal diethylstilbestrol exposure and risk of breast cancer.," *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.*, vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 1509–14, Aug. 2006.
- [92] R. Troisi, E. E. Hatch, L. Titus-Ernstoff, M. Hyer, J. R. Palmer, S. J. Robboy, W. C. Strohsnitter, R. Kaufman, A. L. Herbst, and R. N. Hoover, "Cancer risk in women prenatally exposed to diethylstilbestrol.," *Int. J. Cancer*, vol. 121, no. 2, pp. 356–60, Jul. 2007.
- [93] B. Revich, E. Aksel, T. Ushakova, I. Ivanova, N. Zhuchenko, N. Klyuev, B. Brodsky, and Y. Sotskov,
 "Dioxin exposure and public health in Chapaevsk, Russia.," *Chemosphere*, vol. 43, no. 4–7, pp. 951–66.
- [94] G. Van Maele-Fabry and J. L. Willems, "Prostate cancer among pesticide applicators: a metaanalysis.," *Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health*, vol. 77, no. 8, pp. 559–70, Nov. 2004.

- [95] G. Van Maele-Fabry, V. Libotte, J. Willems, and D. Lison, "Review and meta-analysis of risk estimates for prostate cancer in pesticide manufacturing workers.," *Cancer Causes Control*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 353–73, May 2006.
- [96] J. M. Ritchie, S. L. Vial, L. J. Fuortes, H. Guo, V. E. Reedy, and E. M. Smith, "Organochlorines and risk of prostate cancer.," *J. Occup. Environ. Med.*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 692–702, Jul. 2003.
- [97] A. Blair, D. Sandler, K. Thomas, J. A. Hoppin, F. Kamel, J. Coble, W. J. Lee, J. Rusiecki, C. Knott, M. Dosemeci, C. F. Lynch, J. Lubin, and M. Alavanja, "Disease and injury among participants in the Agricultural Health Study.," J. Agric. Saf. Health, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 141–50, May 2005.
- [98] P. M. Hurley, "Mode of carcinogenic action of pesticides inducing thyroid follicular cell tumors in rodents.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 106, no. 8, pp. 437–45, Aug. 1998.
- [99] A. C. Pesatori, D. Consonni, S. Bachetti, C. Zocchetti, M. Bonzini, A. Baccarelli, and P. A. Bertazzi, "Short- and long-term morbidity and mortality in the population exposed to dioxin after the 'Seveso accident'.," *Ind. Health*, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 127–38, Jul. 2003.
- [100] V. Lope, M. Pollán, P. Gustavsson, N. Plato, B. Pérez-Gómez, N. Aragonés, B. Suárez, J. M. Carrasco, S. Rodríguez, R. Ramis, E. Boldo, and G. López-Abente, "Occupation and thyroid cancer risk in Sweden.," *J. Occup. Environ. Med.*, vol. 47, no. 9, pp. 948–57, Sep. 2005.
- [101] R. W. Stahlhut, E. van Wijngaarden, T. D. Dye, S. Cook, and S. H. Swan, "Concentrations of urinary phthalate metabolites are associated with increased waist circumference and insulin resistance in adult U.S. males.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 115, no. 6, pp. 876–82, Jun. 2007.
- [102] M. Turyk, H. Anderson, L. Knobeloch, P. Imm, and V. Persky, "Organochlorine exposure and incidence of diabetes in a cohort of Great Lakes sport fish consumers.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 117, no. 7, pp. 1076–82, Jul. 2009.
- [103] S. Safe, "Clinical correlates of environmental endocrine disruptors.," *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 139–44.
- [104] J. P. Myers, R. T. Zoeller, and F. S. vom Saal, "A clash of old and new scientific concepts in toxicity, with important implications for public health.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 117, no. 11, pp. 1652– 5, Nov. 2009.
- [105] H. B. Patisaul and H. B. Adewale, "Long-term effects of environmental endocrine disruptors on reproductive physiology and behavior.," *Front. Behav. Neurosci.*, vol. 3, p. 10, Jan. 2009.
- [106] A. J. Bernal and R. L. Jirtle, "Epigenomic disruption: the effects of early developmental exposures.," *Birth Defects Res. A. Clin. Mol. Teratol.*, vol. 88, no. 10, pp. 938–44, Oct. 2010.
- [107] E. C. Bonefeld-Jørgensen, M. Long, M. V Hofmeister, and A. M. Vinggaard, "Endocrine-disrupting potential of bisphenol A, bisphenol A dimethacrylate, 4-n-nonylphenol, and 4-n-octylphenol in vitro: new data and a brief review.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 115 Suppl , pp. 69–76, Dec. 2007.
- [108] N. Ben-Jonathan, E. R. Hugo, and T. D. Brandebourg, "Effects of bisphenol A on adipokine release from human adipose tissue: Implications for the metabolic syndrome.," *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, vol. 304, no. 1–2, pp. 49–54, May 2009.

- [109] K. K. Ryan, A. M. Haller, J. E. Sorrell, S. C. Woods, R. J. Jandacek, and R. J. Seeley, "Perinatal exposure to bisphenol-a and the development of metabolic syndrome in CD-1 mice.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 151, no. 6, pp. 2603–12, Jun. 2010.
- [110] S. H. Lam, M. M. Hlaing, X. Zhang, C. Yan, Z. Duan, L. Zhu, C. Y. Ung, S. Mathavan, C. N. Ong, and Z. Gong, "Toxicogenomic and phenotypic analyses of bisphenol-A early-life exposure toxicity in zebrafish.," *PLoS One*, vol. 6, no. 12, p. e28273, Jan. 2011.
- [111] H. Gong, X. Zhang, B. Cheng, Y. Sun, C. Li, T. Li, L. Zheng, and K. Huang, "Bisphenol A accelerates toxic amyloid formation of human islet amyloid polypeptide: a possible link between bisphenol A exposure and type 2 diabetes.," *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 1, p. e54198, Jan. 2013.
- [112] A. M. Molina, A. J. Lora, A. Blanco, J. G. Monterde, N. Ayala, and R. Moyano, "Endocrine-active compound evaluation: qualitative and quantitative histomorphological assessment of zebrafish gonads after bisphenol-A exposure.," *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*, vol. 88, pp. 155–62, Feb. 2013.
- [113] L. N. Vandenberg, M. V Maffini, C. Sonnenschein, B. S. Rubin, and A. M. Soto, "Bisphenol-A and the great divide: a review of controversies in the field of endocrine disruption.," *Endocr. Rev.*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 75–95, Feb. 2009.
- [114] F. Qin, L. Wang, X. Wang, S. Liu, P. Xu, H. Wang, T. Wu, Y. Zhang, Y. Zheng, M. Li, X. Zhang, C. Yuan, G. Hu, and Z. Wang, "Bisphenol A affects gene expression of gonadotropin-releasing hormones and type I GnRH receptors in brains of adult rare minnow Gobiocypris rarus.," *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C. Toxicol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 157, no. 2, pp. 192–202, Mar. 2013.
- [115] E. Ribeiro-Varandas, W. Viegas, H. Sofia Pereira, and M. Delgado, "Bisphenol A at concentrations found in human serum induces aneugenic effects in endothelial cells.," *Mutat. Res.*, vol. 751, no. 1, pp. 27–33, Feb. 2013.
- [116] C. Teng, B. Goodwin, K. Shockley, M. Xia, R. Huang, J. Norris, B. A. Merrick, A. M. Jetten, C. P. Austin, and R. R. Tice, "Bisphenol A affects androgen receptor function via multiple mechanisms.," *Chem. Biol. Interact.*, vol. 203, no. 3, pp. 556–64, May 2013.
- [117] B. S. Rubin, "Bisphenol A: an endocrine disruptor with widespread exposure and multiple effects.," *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, vol. 127, no. 1–2, pp. 27–34, Oct. 2011.
- [118] S. Jayashree, D. Indumathi, N. Akilavalli, S. Sathish, J. Selvaraj, and K. Balasubramanian, "Effect of Bisphenol-A on insulin signal transduction and glucose oxidation in liver of adult male albino rat.," *Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 300–10, Mar. 2013.
- [119] L. Trasande, T. M. Attina, and J. Blustein, "Association between urinary bisphenol A concentration and obesity prevalence in children and adolescents.," JAMA, vol. 308, no. 11, pp. 1113–21, Sep. 2012.
- [120] J. Sajiki, K. Takahashi, and J. Yonekubo, "Sensitive method for the determination of bisphenol-A in serum using two systems of high-performance liquid chromatography.," J. Chromatogr. B. Biomed. Sci. Appl., vol. 736, no. 1–2, pp. 255–61, Dec. 1999.
- [121] T. Takeuchi and O. Tsutsumi, "Serum bisphenol a concentrations showed gender differences, possibly linked to androgen levels.," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 291, no. 1, pp. 76–8, Feb. 2002.

- [122] J. L. Carwile, X. Ye, X. Zhou, A. M. Calafat, and K. B. Michels, "Canned soup consumption and urinary bisphenol A: a randomized crossover trial.," *JAMA*, vol. 306, no. 20, pp. 2218–20, Nov. 2011.
- [123] P. Alonso-Magdalena, A. B. Ropero, S. Soriano, M. García-Arévalo, C. Ripoll, E. Fuentes, I. Quesada, and Á. Nadal, "Bisphenol-A acts as a potent estrogen via non-classical estrogen triggered pathways.," *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, vol. 355, no. 2, pp. 201–7, May 2012.
- [124] "Synthetic strogenic Agents without the Phenanthrene Nucleus : Abstract : Nature." [Online]. Available: http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v137/n3476/abs/137996a0.html. [Accessed: 30-Mar-2014].
- [125] J. C. Gould, L. S. Leonard, S. C. Maness, B. L. Wagner, K. Conner, T. Zacharewski, S. Safe, D. P. McDonnell, and K. W. Gaido, "Bisphenol A interacts with the estrogen receptor alpha in a distinct manner from estradiol.," *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, vol. 142, no. 1–2, pp. 203–14, Jul. 1998.
- [126] G. G. Kuiper, J. G. Lemmen, B. Carlsson, J. C. Corton, S. H. Safe, P. T. van der Saag, B. van der Burg, and J. A. Gustafsson, "Interaction of estrogenic chemicals and phytoestrogens with estrogen receptor beta.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 139, no. 10, pp. 4252–63, Oct. 1998.
- [127] W. V Welshons, S. C. Nagel, and F. S. vom Saal, "Large effects from small exposures. III. Endocrine mechanisms mediating effects of bisphenol A at levels of human exposure.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 147, no. 6 Suppl, pp. S56–69, Jun. 2006.
- [128] Y. B. Wetherill, B. T. Akingbemi, J. Kanno, J. A. McLachlan, A. Nadal, C. Sonnenschein, C. S. Watson, R. T. Zoeller, and S. M. Belcher, "In vitro molecular mechanisms of bisphenol A action.," *Reprod. Toxicol.*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 178–98.
- [129] E. J. Routledge, R. White, M. G. Parker, and J. P. Sumpter, "Differential effects of xenoestrogens on coactivator recruitment by estrogen receptor (ER) alpha and ERbeta.," J. Biol. Chem., vol. 275, no. 46, pp. 35986–93, Nov. 2000.
- [130] C. E. Powell, A. M. Soto, and C. Sonnenschein, "Identification and characterization of membrane estrogen receptor from MCF7 estrogen-target cells.," J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., vol. 77, no. 2–3, pp. 97–108, May 2001.
- [131] C. S. Watson, N. N. Bulayeva, A. L. Wozniak, and R. A. Alyea, "Xenoestrogens are potent activators of nongenomic estrogenic responses.," *Steroids*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 124–34, Feb. 2007.
- [132] P. Thomas and J. Dong, "Binding and activation of the seven-transmembrane estrogen receptor GPR30 by environmental estrogens: a potential novel mechanism of endocrine disruption.," J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., vol. 102, no. 1–5, pp. 175–9, Dec. 2006.
- [133] C. S. Watson, N. N. Bulayeva, A. L. Wozniak, and C. C. Finnerty, "Signaling from the membrane via membrane estrogen receptor-alpha: estrogens, xenoestrogens, and phytoestrogens.," *Steroids*, vol. 70, no. 5–7, pp. 364–71.
- [134] H. Sun, L.-C. Xu, J.-F. Chen, L. Song, and X.-R. Wang, "Effect of bisphenol A, tetrachlorobisphenol A and pentachlorophenol on the transcriptional activities of androgen receptor-mediated reporter gene.," *Food Chem. Toxicol.*, vol. 44, no. 11, pp. 1916–21, Nov. 2006.
- [135] T. Krüger, M. Long, and E. C. Bonefeld-Jørgensen, "Plastic components affect the activation of the aryl hydrocarbon and the androgen receptor.," *Toxicology*, vol. 246, no. 2–3, pp. 112–23, Apr. 2008.

- [136] K. W. Gaido, S. C. Maness, D. P. McDonnell, S. S. Dehal, D. Kupfer, and S. Safe, "Interaction of methoxychlor and related compounds with estrogen receptor alpha and beta, and androgen receptor: structure-activity studies.," *Mol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 852–8, Oct. 2000.
- [137] A. Matsushima, Y. Kakuta, T. Teramoto, T. Koshiba, X. Liu, H. Okada, T. Tokunaga, S.-I. Kawabata, M. Kimura, and Y. Shimohigashi, "Structural evidence for endocrine disruptor bisphenol A binding to human nuclear receptor ERR gamma.," J. Biochem., vol. 142, no. 4, pp. 517–24, Oct. 2007.
- [138] K. Moriyama, T. Tagami, T. Akamizu, T. Usui, M. Saijo, N. Kanamoto, Y. Hataya, A. Shimatsu, H. Kuzuya, and K. Nakao, "Thyroid hormone action is disrupted by bisphenol A as an antagonist.," J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., vol. 87, no. 11, pp. 5185–90, Nov. 2002.
- [139] D. Gentilcore, I. Porreca, F. Rizzo, E. Ganbaatar, E. Carchia, M. Mallardo, M. De Felice, and C. Ambrosino, "Bisphenol A interferes with thyroid specific gene expression.," *Toxicology*, vol. 304, pp. 21–31, Feb. 2013.
- [140] P. Pocar, B. Fischer, T. Klonisch, and S. Hombach-Klonisch, "Molecular interactions of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its biological and toxicological relevance for reproduction.," *Reproduction*, vol. 129, no. 4, pp. 379–89, Apr. 2005.
- [141] Y. Sui, N. Ai, S.-H. Park, J. Rios-Pilier, J. T. Perkins, W. J. Welsh, and C. Zhou, "Bisphenol A and its analogues activate human pregnane X receptor.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 120, no. 3, pp. 399– 405, Mar. 2012.
- [142] S. Lee, K. Suk, I. K. Kim, I.-S. Jang, J.-W. Park, V. J. Johnson, T. K. Kwon, B.-J. Choi, and S.-H. Kim, "Signaling pathways of bisphenol A-induced apoptosis in hippocampal neuronal cells: role of calcium-induced reactive oxygen species, mitogen-activated protein kinases, and nuclear factorkappaB.," J. Neurosci. Res., vol. 86, no. 13, pp. 2932–42, Oct. 2008.
- [143] S. Anjum, S. Rahman, M. Kaur, F. Ahmad, H. Rashid, R. A. Ansari, and S. Raisuddin, "Melatonin ameliorates bisphenol A-induced biochemical toxicity in testicular mitochondria of mouse.," *Food Chem. Toxicol.*, vol. 49, no. 11, pp. 2849–54, Nov. 2011.
- [144] D. Tiwari, J. Kamble, S. Chilgunde, P. Patil, G. Maru, D. Kawle, U. Bhartiya, L. Joseph, and G. Vanage, "Clastogenic and mutagenic effects of bisphenol A: an endocrine disruptor.," *Mutat. Res.*, vol. 743, no. 1–2, pp. 83–90, Mar. 2012.
- [145] H. Ooe, T. Taira, S. M. M. Iguchi-Ariga, and H. Ariga, "Induction of reactive oxygen species by bisphenol A and abrogation of bisphenol A-induced cell injury by DJ-1.," *Toxicol. Sci.*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp. 114–26, Nov. 2005.
- [146] H. Kabuto, M. Amakawa, and T. Shishibori, "Exposure to bisphenol A during embryonic/fetal life and infancy increases oxidative injury and causes underdevelopment of the brain and testis in mice," *Life Sci.*, vol. 74, no. 24, pp. 2931–2940, Apr. 2004.
- [147] G. Lenaz, "Mitochondria and reactive oxygen species. Which role in physiology and pathology?," *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.*, vol. 942, pp. 93–136, Jan. 2012.
- [148] K. Warita, T. Mitsuhashi, K. Ohta, S. Suzuki, N. Hoshi, T. Miki, and Y. Takeuchi, "Gene expression of epigenetic regulatory factors related to primary silencing mechanism is less susceptible to lower doses of bisphenol A in embryonic hypothalamic cells.," J. Toxicol. Sci., vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 285–9, Jan. 2013.

- [149] L. F. Doherty, J. G. Bromer, Y. Zhou, T. S. Aldad, and H. S. Taylor, "In utero exposure to diethylstilbestrol (DES) or bisphenol-A (BPA) increases EZH2 expression in the mammary gland: an epigenetic mechanism linking endocrine disruptors to breast cancer.," *Horm. Cancer*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 146–55, Jun. 2010.
- [150] R. Cao, L. Wang, H. Wang, L. Xia, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, R. S. Jones, and Y. Zhang, "Role of histone H3 lysine 27 methylation in Polycomb-group silencing.," *Science*, vol. 298, no. 5595, pp. 1039–43, Nov. 2002.
- [151] S. C. Nagel and J. J. Bromfield, "Bisphenol a: a model endocrine disrupting chemical with a new potential mechanism of action.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 154, no. 6, pp. 1962–4, Jun. 2013.
- [152] M. Avissar-Whiting, K. R. Veiga, K. M. Uhl, M. A. Maccani, L. A. Gagne, E. L. Moen, and C. J. Marsit, "Bisphenol A exposure leads to specific microRNA alterations in placental cells.," *Reprod. Toxicol.*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 401–6, Jul. 2010.
- [153] C. A. Richter, J. A. Taylor, R. L. Ruhlen, W. V Welshons, and F. S. Vom Saal, "Estradiol and Bisphenol A stimulate androgen receptor and estrogen receptor gene expression in fetal mouse prostate mesenchyme cells.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 115, no. 6, pp. 902–8, Jun. 2007.
- [154] A. Bouskine, M. Nebout, F. Brücker-Davis, M. Benahmed, and P. Fenichel, "Low doses of bisphenol A promote human seminoma cell proliferation by activating PKA and PKG via a membrane G-proteincoupled estrogen receptor.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 117, no. 7, pp. 1053–8, Jul. 2009.
- [155] Z.-G. Sheng and B.-Z. Zhu, "Low concentrations of bisphenol A induce mouse spermatogonial cell proliferation by G protein-coupled receptor 30 and estrogen receptor-α.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 119, no. 12, pp. 1775–80, Dec. 2011.
- [156] N. Chevalier, A. Bouskine, and P. Fenichel, "Bisphenol A promotes testicular seminoma cell proliferation through GPER/GPR30.," *Int. J. Cancer*, vol. 130, no. 1, pp. 241–2, Jan. 2012.
- [157] S. Derouiche, M. Warnier, P. Mariot, P. Gosset, B. Mauroy, J.-L. Bonnal, C. Slomianny, P. Delcourt, N. Prevarskaya, and M. Roudbaraki, "Bisphenol A stimulates human prostate cancer cell migration via remodelling of calcium signalling.," *Springerplus*, vol. 2, no. 1, p. 54, Dec. 2013.
- [158] A. Ptak, A. Wróbel, and E. L. Gregoraszczuk, "Effect of bisphenol-A on the expression of selected genes involved in cell cycle and apoptosis in the OVCAR-3 cell line.," *Toxicol. Lett.*, vol. 202, no. 1, pp. 30–5, Apr. 2011.
- [159] A. Ptak and E. L. Gregoraszczuk, "Bisphenol A induces leptin receptor expression, creating more binding sites for leptin, and activates the JAK/Stat, MAPK/ERK and PI3K/Akt signalling pathways in human ovarian cancer cell.," *Toxicol. Lett.*, vol. 210, no. 3, pp. 332–7, May 2012.
- [160] E. W. LaPensee, C. R. LaPensee, S. Fox, S. Schwemberger, S. Afton, and N. Ben-Jonathan, "Bisphenol A and estradiol are equipotent in antagonizing cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity in breast cancer cells.," *Cancer Lett.*, vol. 290, no. 2, pp. 167–73, Apr. 2010.
- [161] S. Soriano, P. Alonso-Magdalena, M. García-Arévalo, A. Novials, S. J. Muhammed, A. Salehi, J.-A. Gustafsson, I. Quesada, and A. Nadal, "Rapid insulinotropic action of low doses of bisphenol-A on mouse and human islets of Langerhans: role of estrogen receptor β.," *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 2, p. e31109, Jan. 2012.

- [162] Y.-J. Jeng and C. S. Watson, "Combinations of physiologic estrogens with xenoestrogens alter ERK phosphorylation profiles in rat pituitary cells.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 119, no. 1, pp. 104–12, Jan. 2011.
- [163] Z.-G. Sheng, Y. Tang, Y.-X. Liu, Y. Yuan, B.-Q. Zhao, X.-J. Chao, and B.-Z. Zhu, "Low concentrations of bisphenol a suppress thyroid hormone receptor transcription through a nongenomic mechanism.," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.*, vol. 259, no. 1, pp. 133–42, Feb. 2012.
- [164] C. S. Watson, Y.-J. Jeng, G. Hu, A. Wozniak, N. Bulayeva, and J. Guptarak, "Estrogen- and xenoestrogen-induced ERK signaling in pituitary tumor cells involves estrogen receptor-α interactions with G protein-αi and caveolin I.," Steroids, vol. 77, no. 5, pp. 424–32, Apr. 2012.
- [165] Z.-G. Sheng, W. Huang, Y.-X. Liu, and B.-Z. Zhu, "Bisphenol A at a low concentration boosts mouse spermatogonial cell proliferation by inducing the G protein-coupled receptor 30 expression.," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.*, vol. 267, no. 1, pp. 88–94, Feb. 2013.
- [166] R. Viñas and C. S. Watson, "Bisphenol S disrupts estradiol-induced nongenomic signaling in a rat pituitary cell line: effects on cell functions.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 121, no. 3, pp. 352–8, Mar. 2013.
- [167] D.-K. Li, Z. Zhou, M. Miao, Y. He, J. Wang, J. Ferber, L. J. Herrinton, E. Gao, and W. Yuan, "Urine bisphenol-A (BPA) level in relation to semen quality.," *Fertil. Steril.*, vol. 95, no. 2, pp. 625–30.e1–4, Feb. 2011.
- [168] J. D. Meeker, S. Ehrlich, T. L. Toth, D. L. Wright, A. M. Calafat, A. T. Trisini, X. Ye, and R. Hauser, "Semen quality and sperm DNA damage in relation to urinary bisphenol A among men from an infertility clinic.," *Reprod. Toxicol.*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 532–9, Dec. 2010.
- [169] M. Miao, W. Yuan, Y. He, Z. Zhou, J. Wang, E. Gao, G. Li, and D.-K. Li, "In utero exposure to bisphenol-A and anogenital distance of male offspring.," *Birth Defects Res. A. Clin. Mol. Teratol.*, vol. 91, no. 10, pp. 867–72, Oct. 2011.
- [170] P. Fénichel, H. Déchaux, C. Harthe, J. Gal, P. Ferrari, P. Pacini, K. Wagner-Mahler, M. Pugeat, and F. Brucker-Davis, "Unconjugated bisphenol A cord blood levels in boys with descended or undescended testes.," *Hum. Reprod.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 983–90, Apr. 2012.
- [171] J. Mendiola, N. Jørgensen, A.-M. Andersson, A. M. Calafat, X. Ye, J. B. Redmon, E. Z. Drobnis, C. Wang, A. Sparks, S. W. Thurston, F. Liu, and S. H. Swan, "Are environmental levels of bisphenol a associated with reproductive function in fertile men?," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 118, no. 9, pp. 1286–91, Sep. 2010.
- [172] T. Hanaoka, N. Kawamura, K. Hara, and S. Tsugane, "Urinary bisphenol A and plasma hormone concentrations in male workers exposed to bisphenol A diglycidyl ether and mixed organic solvents.," Occup. Environ. Med., vol. 59, no. 9, pp. 625–8, Sep. 2002.
- [173] J. D. Meeker, A. M. Calafat, and R. Hauser, "Urinary bisphenol A concentrations in relation to serum thyroid and reproductive hormone levels in men from an infertility clinic.," *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1458–63, Feb. 2010.
- [174] E. Kandaraki, A. Chatzigeorgiou, S. Livadas, E. Palioura, F. Economou, M. Koutsilieris, S. Palimeri, D. Panidis, and E. Diamanti-Kandarakis, "Endocrine disruptors and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS):

elevated serum levels of bisphenol A in women with PCOS.," J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., vol. 96, no. 3, pp. E480–4, Mar. 2011.

- [175] T. Takeuchi, O. Tsutsumi, Y. Ikezuki, Y. Takai, and Y. Taketani, "Positive relationship between androgen and the endocrine disruptor, bisphenol A, in normal women and women with ovarian dysfunction.," *Endocr. J.*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 165–9, Apr. 2004.
- [176] G. Tarantino, R. Valentino, C. Di Somma, V. D'Esposito, F. Passaretti, G. Pizza, V. Brancato, F. Orio, P. Formisano, A. Colao, and S. Savastano, "Bisphenol A in polycystic ovary syndrome and its association with liver-spleen axis.," *Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf).*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 447–53, Mar. 2013.
- [177] L. Cobellis, N. Colacurci, E. Trabucco, C. Carpentiero, and L. Grumetto, "Measurement of bisphenol A and bisphenol B levels in human blood sera from healthy and endometriotic women.," *Biomed. Chromatogr.*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 1186–90, Nov. 2009.
- [178] H. Hiroi, O. Tsutsumi, T. Takeuchi, M. Momoeda, Y. Ikezuki, A. Okamura, H. Yokota, and Y. Taketani, "Differences in serum bisphenol a concentrations in premenopausal normal women and women with endometrial hyperplasia.," *Endocr. J.*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 595–600, Dec. 2004.
- [179] S. Ehrlich, P. L. Williams, S. A. Missmer, J. A. Flaws, X. Ye, A. M. Calafat, J. C. Petrozza, D. Wright, and R. Hauser, "Urinary bisphenol A concentrations and early reproductive health outcomes among women undergoing IVF.," *Hum. Reprod.*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 3583–92, Dec. 2012.
- [180] E. Mok-Lin, S. Ehrlich, P. L. Williams, J. Petrozza, D. L. Wright, A. M. Calafat, X. Ye, and R. Hauser, "Urinary bisphenol A concentrations and ovarian response among women undergoing IVF.," Int. J. Androl., vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 385–93, Apr. 2010.
- [181] V. Y. Fujimoto, D. Kim, F. S. vom Saal, J. D. Lamb, J. A. Taylor, and M. S. Bloom, "Serum unconjugated bisphenol A concentrations in women may adversely influence oocyte quality during in vitro fertilization.," *Fertil. Steril.*, vol. 95, no. 5, pp. 1816–9, Apr. 2011.
- [182] S. Ehrlich, P. L. Williams, S. A. Missmer, J. A. Flaws, K. F. Berry, A. M. Calafat, X. Ye, J. C. Petrozza, D. Wright, and R. Hauser, "Urinary bisphenol A concentrations and implantation failure among women undergoing in vitro fertilization.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 120, no. 7, pp. 978–83, Jul. 2012.
- [183] U. Eichenlaub-Ritter, E. Vogt, S. Cukurcam, F. Sun, F. Pacchierotti, and J. Parry, "Exposure of mouse oocytes to bisphenol A causes meiotic arrest but not aneuploidy.," *Mutat. Res.*, vol. 651, no. 1–2, pp. 82–92, Mar. 2008.
- [184] P. A. Hunt, K. E. Koehler, M. Susiarjo, C. A. Hodges, A. Ilagan, R. C. Voigt, S. Thomas, B. F. Thomas, and T. J. Hassold, "Bisphenol a exposure causes meiotic aneuploidy in the female mouse.," *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 13, no. 7, pp. 546–53, Apr. 2003.
- [185] F. Grasselli, L. Baratta, L. Baioni, S. Bussolati, R. Ramoni, S. Grolli, and G. Basini, "Bisphenol A disrupts granulosa cell function.," *Domest. Anim. Endocrinol.*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 34–9, Jul. 2010.
- [186] W. Zhou, J. Liu, L. Liao, S. Han, and J. Liu, "Effect of bisphenol A on steroid hormone production in rat ovarian theca-interstitial and granulosa cells.," *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, vol. 283, no. 1–2, pp. 12–8, Feb. 2008.

- [187] J. M. Naciff, Z. S. Khambatta, T. D. Reichling, G. J. Carr, J. P. Tiesman, D. W. Singleton, S. A. Khan, and G. P. Daston, "The genomic response of Ishikawa cells to bisphenol A exposure is dose- and timedependent.," *Toxicology*, vol. 270, no. 2–3, pp. 137–49, Apr. 2010.
- [188] Y. Li, K. A. Burns, Y. Arao, C. J. Luh, and K. S. Korach, "Differential estrogenic actions of endocrinedisrupting chemicals bisphenol A, bisphenol AF, and zearalenone through estrogen receptor α and β in vitro.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 120, no. 7, pp. 1029–35, Jul. 2012.
- [189] M. Hulak, I. Gazo, A. Shaliutina, and P. Linhartova, "In vitro effects of bisphenol A on the quality parameters, oxidative stress, DNA integrity and adenosine triphosphate content in sterlet (Acipenser ruthenus) spermatozoa.," Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C. Toxicol. Pharmacol., vol. 158, no. 2, pp. 64–71, Aug. 2013.
- [190] N. Benachour and A. Aris, "Toxic effects of low doses of Bisphenol-A on human placental cells.," *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.*, vol. 241, no. 3, pp. 322–8, Dec. 2009.
- [191] T. Doshi, S. S. Mehta, V. Dighe, N. Balasinor, and G. Vanage, "Hypermethylation of estrogen receptor promoter region in adult testis of rats exposed neonatally to bisphenol A.," *Toxicology*, vol. 289, no. 2–3, pp. 74–82, Nov. 2011.
- [192] L. N. Vandenberg, M. V Maffini, C. M. Schaeberle, A. A. Ucci, C. Sonnenschein, B. S. Rubin, and A. M. Soto, "Perinatal exposure to the xenoestrogen bisphenol-A induces mammary intraductal hyperplasias in adult CD-1 mice.," *Reprod. Toxicol.*, vol. 26, no. 3–4, pp. 210–9.
- [193] M. Durando, L. Kass, V. Perdomo, V. L. Bosquiazzo, E. H. Luque, and M. Muñoz-de-Toro, "Prenatal exposure to bisphenol A promotes angiogenesis and alters steroid-mediated responses in the mammary glands of cycling rats.," J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol., vol. 127, no. 1–2, pp. 35–43, Oct. 2011.
- [194] L. P. Jones, A. Sampson, H. J. Kang, H. J. Kim, Y.-W. Yi, S. Y. Kwon, J. K. Babus, A. Wang, and I. Bae, "Loss of BRCA1 leads to an increased sensitivity to Bisphenol A.," *Toxicol. Lett.*, vol. 199, no. 3, pp. 261–8, Dec. 2010.
- [195] T. J. Murray, M. V Maffini, A. A. Ucci, C. Sonnenschein, and A. M. Soto, "Induction of mammary gland ductal hyperplasias and carcinoma in situ following fetal bisphenol A exposure.," *Reprod. Toxicol.*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 383–90.
- [196] S. Jenkins, J. Wang, I. Eltoum, R. Desmond, and C. A. Lamartiniere, "Chronic oral exposure to bisphenol A results in a nonmonotonic dose response in mammary carcinogenesis and metastasis in MMTV-erbB2 mice.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 119, no. 11, pp. 1604–9, Nov. 2011.
- [197] S. H. Dairkee, J. Seok, S. Champion, A. Sayeed, M. Mindrinos, W. Xiao, R. W. Davis, and W. H. Goodson, "Bisphenol A induces a profile of tumor aggressiveness in high-risk cells from breast cancer patients.," *Cancer Res.*, vol. 68, no. 7, pp. 2076–80, Apr. 2008.
- [198] N. Acevedo, B. Davis, C. M. Schaeberle, C. Sonnenschein, and A. M. Soto, "Perinatally administered bisphenol a as a potential mammary gland carcinogen in rats.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 121, no. 9, pp. 1040–6, Sep. 2013.
- [199] G. S. Prins and K. S. Korach, "The role of estrogens and estrogen receptors in normal prostate growth and disease.," *Steroids*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 233–44, Mar. 2008.

- [200] J. M. Kaufman and A. Vermeulen, "The decline of androgen levels in elderly men and its clinical and therapeutic implications.," *Endocr. Rev.*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 833–76, Oct. 2005.
- [201] Y. B. Wetherill, J. K. Hess-Wilson, C. E. S. Comstock, S. A. Shah, C. R. Buncher, L. Sallans, P. A. Limbach, S. Schwemberger, G. F. Babcock, and K. E. Knudsen, "Bisphenol A facilitates bypass of androgen ablation therapy in prostate cancer.," *Mol. Cancer Ther.*, vol. 5, no. 12, pp. 3181–90, Dec. 2006.
- [202] J. G. Ramos, J. Varayoud, L. Kass, H. Rodríguez, L. Costabel, M. Muñoz-De-Toro, and E. H. Luque, "Bisphenol a induces both transient and permanent histofunctional alterations of the hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal axis in prenatally exposed male rats.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 144, no. 7, pp. 3206–15, Jul. 2003.
- [203] I. Ceccarelli, D. Della Seta, P. Fiorenzani, F. Farabollini, and A. M. Aloisi, "Estrogenic chemicals at puberty change ERalpha in the hypothalamus of male and female rats.," *Neurotoxicol. Teratol.*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 108–15.
- [204] Y. Masuo, M. Ishido, M. Morita, and S. Oka, "Effects of neonatal treatment with 6-hydroxydopamine and endocrine disruptors on motor activity and gene expression in rats.," *Neural Plast.*, vol. 11, no. 1–2, pp. 59–76, Jan. 2004.
- [205] K. Kubo, O. Arai, R. Ogata, M. Omura, T. Hori, and S. Aou, "Exposure to bisphenol A during the fetal and suckling periods disrupts sexual differentiation of the locus coeruleus and of behavior in the rat.," *Neurosci. Lett.*, vol. 304, no. 1–2, pp. 73–6, May 2001.
- [206] K. Kubo, O. Arai, M. Omura, R. Watanabe, R. Ogata, and S. Aou, "Low dose effects of bisphenol A on sexual differentiation of the brain and behavior in rats.," *Neurosci. Res.*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 345–56, Mar. 2003.
- [207] K. Nakamura, K. Itoh, T. Yaoi, Y. Fujiwara, T. Sugimoto, and S. Fushiki, "Murine neocortical histogenesis is perturbed by prenatal exposure to low doses of Bisphenol A.," *J. Neurosci. Res.*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 1197–205, Nov. 2006.
- [208] C. Leranth, K. Szigeti-Buck, N. J. Maclusky, and T. Hajszan, "Bisphenol A prevents the synaptogenic response to testosterone in the brain of adult male rats.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 149, no. 3, pp. 988–94, Mar. 2008.
- [209] T. Hajszan and C. Leranth, "Bisphenol A interferes with synaptic remodeling.," *Front. Neuroendocrinol.*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 519–30, Oct. 2010.
- [210] J. M. Braun, K. Yolton, K. N. Dietrich, R. Hornung, X. Ye, A. M. Calafat, and B. P. Lanphear, "Prenatal bisphenol A exposure and early childhood behavior.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 117, no. 12, pp. 1945–52, Dec. 2009.
- [211] J. M. Braun, A. E. Kalkbrenner, A. M. Calafat, K. Yolton, X. Ye, K. N. Dietrich, and B. P. Lanphear, "Impact of early-life bisphenol A exposure on behavior and executive function in children.," *Pediatrics*, vol. 128, no. 5, pp. 873–82, Nov. 2011.
- [212] B. C. Ryan and J. G. Vandenbergh, "Developmental exposure to environmental estrogens alters anxiety and spatial memory in female mice.," *Horm. Behav.*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 85–93, Jun. 2006.

- [213] K. Kawai, T. Nozaki, H. Nishikata, S. Aou, M. Takii, and C. Kubo, "Aggressive behavior and serum testosterone concentration during the maturation process of male mice: the effects of fetal exposure to bisphenol A.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 111, no. 2, pp. 175–8, Feb. 2003.
- [214] T. Negishi, K. Kawasaki, S. Suzaki, H. Maeda, Y. Ishii, S. Kyuwa, Y. Kuroda, and Y. Yoshikawa, "Behavioral alterations in response to fear-provoking stimuli and tranylcypromine induced by perinatal exposure to bisphenol A and nonylphenol in male rats.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 112, no. 11, pp. 1159–64, Aug. 2004.
- [215] A. M. Aloisi, D. Della Seta, C. Rendo, I. Ceccarelli, A. Scaramuzzino, and F. Farabollini, "Exposure to the estrogenic pollutant bisphenol A affects pain behavior induced by subcutaneous formalin injection in male and female rats.," *Brain Res.*, vol. 937, no. 1–2, pp. 1–7, May 2002.
- [216] F. Dessì-Fulgheri, S. Porrini, and F. Farabollini, "Effects of perinatal exposure to bisphenol A on play behavior of female and male juvenile rats.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 110 Suppl, pp. 403–7, Jun. 2002.
- [217] S. Porrini, V. Belloni, D. Della Seta, F. Farabollini, G. Giannelli, and F. Dessì-Fulgheri, "Early exposure to a low dose of bisphenol A affects socio-sexual behavior of juvenile female rats.," *Brain Res. Bull.*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 261–6, Apr. 2005.
- [218] L. Huc, A. Lemarié, F. Guéraud, and C. Héliès-Toussaint, "Low concentrations of bisphenol A induce lipid accumulation mediated by the production of reactive oxygen species in the mitochondria of HepG2 cells.," *Toxicol. In Vitro*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 709–17, Aug. 2012.
- [219] B. Jiao and C. H. K. Cheng, "Disrupting actions of bisphenol A and malachite green on growth hormone receptor gene expression and signal transduction in seabream.," *Fish Physiol. Biochem.*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 251–61, Jun. 2010.
- [220] A. Marmugi, S. Ducheix, F. Lasserre, A. Polizzi, A. Paris, N. Priymenko, J. Bertrand-Michel, T. Pineau, H. Guillou, P. G. P. Martin, and L. Mselli-Lakhal, "Low doses of bisphenol A induce gene expression related to lipid synthesis and trigger triglyceride accumulation in adult mouse liver.," *Hepatology*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 395–407, Feb. 2012.
- [221] E. Somm, V. M. Schwitzgebel, A. Toulotte, C. R. Cederroth, C. Combescure, S. Nef, M. L. Aubert, and P. S. Hüppi, "Perinatal exposure to bisphenol a alters early adipogenesis in the rat.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 117, no. 10, pp. 1549–55, Oct. 2009.
- [222] I. A. Lang, T. S. Galloway, A. Scarlett, W. E. Henley, M. Depledge, R. B. Wallace, and D. Melzer, "Association of urinary bisphenol A concentration with medical disorders and laboratory abnormalities in adults.," JAMA, vol. 300, no. 11, pp. 1303–10, Sep. 2008.
- [223] D. Melzer, N. E. Rice, C. Lewis, W. E. Henley, and T. S. Galloway, "Association of urinary bisphenol a concentration with heart disease: evidence from NHANES 2003/06.," *PLoS One*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. e8673, Jan. 2010.
- [224] M. S. Nahar, C. Liao, K. Kannan, and D. C. Dolinoy, "Fetal liver bisphenol A concentrations and biotransformation gene expression reveal variable exposure and altered capacity for metabolism in humans.," J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicol., vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 116–23, Feb. 2013.
- [225] F. Brucker-Davis, P. Ferrari, M. Boda-Buccino, K. Wagner-Mahler, P. Pacini, J. Gal, P. Azuar, and P. Fenichel, "Cord blood thyroid tests in boys born with and without cryptorchidism: correlations with

birth parameters and in utero xenobiotics exposure.," *Thyroid*, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 1133–41, Oct. 2011.

- [226] R. T. Zoeller, R. Bansal, and C. Parris, "Bisphenol-A, an environmental contaminant that acts as a thyroid hormone receptor antagonist in vitro, increases serum thyroxine, and alters RC3/neurogranin expression in the developing rat brain.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 146, no. 2, pp. 607–12, Feb. 2005.
- [227] J. D. Meeker and K. K. Ferguson, "Relationship between urinary phthalate and bisphenol A concentrations and serum thyroid measures in U.S. adults and adolescents from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2007-2008.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 119, no. 10, pp. 1396–402, Oct. 2011.
- [228] T. Wang, J. Lu, M. Xu, Y. Xu, M. Li, Y. Liu, X. Tian, Y. Chen, M. Dai, W. Wang, S. Lai, Y. Bi, and G. Ning, "Urinary bisphenol a concentration and thyroid function in Chinese adults.," *Epidemiology*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 295–302, Mar. 2013.
- [229] Y. Harano, M. Suzuki, Y. Koyama, M. Kanda, S. Yasuda, K. Suzuki, and I. Takamizawa, "Multifactorial insulin resistance and clinical impact in hypertension and cardiovascular diseases.," J. Diabetes Complications, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 19–23.
- [230] D. W. Haslam and W. P. T. James, "Obesity.," Lancet, vol. 366, no. 9492, pp. 1197–209, Oct. 2005.
- [231] L. A. Barness, J. M. Opitz, and E. Gilbert-Barness, "Obesity: genetic, molecular, and environmental aspects.," *Am. J. Med. Genet. A*, vol. 143A, no. 24, pp. 3016–34, Dec. 2007.
- [232] "WHO | Obesity and overweight."
- [233] A. B. Olokoba, O. A. Obateru, and L. B. Olokoba, "Type 2 diabetes mellitus: a review of current trends.," *Oman Med. J.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 269–73, Jul. 2012.
- [234] J. E. Shaw, R. A. Sicree, and P. Z. Zimmet, "Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030.," *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 4–14, Jan. 2010.
- [235] M. P. Stern, K. Williams, C. González-Villalpando, K. J. Hunt, and S. M. Haffner, "Does the metabolic syndrome improve identification of individuals at risk of type 2 diabetes and/or cardiovascular disease?," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 2676–81, Nov. 2004.
- [236] C. Lorenzo, K. Williams, K. J. Hunt, and S. M. Haffner, "The National Cholesterol Education Program -Adult Treatment Panel III, International Diabetes Federation, and World Health Organization definitions of the metabolic syndrome as predictors of incident cardiovascular disease and diabetes.," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 8–13, Jan. 2007.
- [237] P. F. Baillie-Hamilton, "Chemical toxins: a hypothesis to explain the global obesity epidemic.," J. *Altern. Complement. Med.*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 185–92, Apr. 2002.
- [238] P. Alonso-Magdalena, A. B. Ropero, S. Soriano, I. Quesada, and A. Nadal, "Bisphenol-A: a new diabetogenic factor?," *Hormones (Athens).*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 118–26, 2010.
- [239] M. K. Silver, M. S. O'Neill, M. R. Sowers, and S. K. Park, "Urinary bisphenol A and type-2 diabetes in U.S. adults: data from NHANES 2003-2008.," *PLoS One*, vol. 6, no. 10, p. e26868, Jan. 2011.

- [240] A. Shankar and S. Teppala, "Relationship between urinary bisphenol A levels and diabetes mellitus.," J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., vol. 96, no. 12, pp. 3822–6, Dec. 2011.
- [241] C. Sabanayagam, S. Teppala, and A. Shankar, "Relationship between urinary bisphenol A levels and prediabetes among subjects free of diabetes.," *Acta Diabetol.*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 625–31, Aug. 2013.
- [242] R. Seeley, T. D. Stephens, and P. Tate, "Anatomy and Physiology.," *Br. Med. J.*, vol. 1, pp. 805–806, 2007.
- [243] "Pancreatic Beta Cell in Health and Disease." [Online]. Available: http://www.springer.com/life+sciences/cell+biology/book/978-4-431-75451-0. [Accessed: 31-Mar-2014].
- [244] A. Nadal, P. Alonso-Magdalena, S. Soriano, I. Quesada, and A. B. Ropero, "The pancreatic beta-cell as a target of estrogens and xenoestrogens: Implications for blood glucose homeostasis and diabetes.," *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, vol. 304, no. 1–2, pp. 63–8, May 2009.
- [245] S. Supale, N. Li, T. Brun, and P. Maechler, "Mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic β cells.," Trends Endocrinol. Metab., vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 477–87, Sep. 2012.
- [246] "Biology of the Laboratory Mouse." [Online]. Available: http://www.informatics.jax.org/greenbook/. [Accessed: 31-Mar-2014].
- [247] H. J. Han and S. H. Park, "High glucose stimulates glutamate uptakes in pancreatic β-cells.," *Lab. Anim. Res.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 327–31, Dec. 2011.
- [248] P. Maechler, N. Li, M. Casimir, L. Vetterli, F. Frigerio, and T. Brun, "Role of mitochondria in beta-cell function and dysfunction.," *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.*, vol. 654, pp. 193–216, Jan. 2010.
- [249] Z. A. Ma, Z. Zhao, and J. Turk, "Mitochondrial dysfunction and β-cell failure in type 2 diabetes mellitus.," *Exp. Diabetes Res.*, vol. 2012, p. 703538, Jan. 2012.
- [250] R. P. A. Barros, U. F. Machado, and J.-A. Gustafsson, "Estrogen receptors: new players in diabetes mellitus.," *Trends Mol. Med.*, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 425–31, Oct. 2006.
- [251] E. D. Rosen and B. M. Spiegelman, "Adipocytes as regulators of energy balance and glucose homeostasis.," *Nature*, vol. 444, no. 7121, pp. 847–53, Dec. 2006.
- [252] A. B. Ropero, P. Alonso-Magdalena, I. Quesada, and A. Nadal, "The role of estrogen receptors in the control of energy and glucose homeostasis.," *Steroids*, vol. 73, no. 9–10, pp. 874–9, Oct. 2008.
- [253] R. P. A. Barros, U. F. Machado, M. Warner, and J.-A. Gustafsson, "Muscle GLUT4 regulation by estrogen receptors ERbeta and ERalpha.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 103, no. 5, pp. 1605–8, Jan. 2006.
- [254] G. Bryzgalova, H. Gao, B. Ahren, J. R. Zierath, D. Galuska, T. L. Steiler, K. Dahlman-Wright, S. Nilsson, J.-A. Gustafsson, S. Efendic, and A. Khan, "Evidence that oestrogen receptor-alpha plays an important role in the regulation of glucose homeostasis in mice: insulin sensitivity in the liver.," *Diabetologia*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 588–97, Mar. 2006.
- [255] P. S. Cooke, P. A. Heine, J. A. Taylor, and D. B. Lubahn, "The role of estrogen and estrogen receptoralpha in male adipose tissue.," *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.*, vol. 178, no. 1–2, pp. 147–54, Jul. 2001.

- [256] J. F. Couse and K. S. Korach, "Estrogen receptor null mice: what have we learned and where will they lead us?," *Endocr. Rev.*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 358–417, Jul. 1999.
- [257] A. Naaz, M. Zakroczymski, P. Heine, J. Taylor, P. Saunders, D. Lubahn, and P. S. Cooke, "Effect of ovariectomy on adipose tissue of mice in the absence of estrogen receptor alpha (ERalpha): a potential role for estrogen receptor beta (ERbeta).," *Horm. Metab. Res.*, vol. 34, no. 11–12, pp. 758– 63.
- [258] P. A. Heine, J. A. Taylor, G. A. Iwamoto, D. B. Lubahn, and P. S. Cooke, "Increased adipose tissue in male and female estrogen receptor-alpha knockout mice.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 97, no. 23, pp. 12729–34, Dec. 2000.
- [259] M. T. Sutter-Dub, "Effects of pregnancy and progesterone and/or oestradiol on the insulin secretion and pancreatic insulin content in the perfused rat pancreas.," *Diabète & métabolisme*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 47–56, Mar. 1979.
- [260] H. E. Brussaard, J. A. Gevers Leuven, M. Frölich, C. Kluft, and H. M. Krans, "Short-term oestrogen replacement therapy improves insulin resistance, lipids and fibrinolysis in postmenopausal women with NIDDM.," *Diabetologia*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 843–9, Jul. 1997.
- [261] J. C. Stevenson, D. Crook, I. F. Godsland, P. Collins, and M. I. Whitehead, "Hormone replacement therapy and the cardiovascular system. Nonlipid effects.," *Drugs*, vol. 47 Suppl 2, pp. 35–41, Jan. 1994.
- [262] C. Le May, K. Chu, M. Hu, C. S. Ortega, E. R. Simpson, K. S. Korach, M.-J. Tsai, and F. Mauvais-Jarvis, "Estrogens protect pancreatic beta-cells from apoptosis and prevent insulin-deficient diabetes mellitus in mice.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 103, no. 24, pp. 9232–7, Jun. 2006.
- [263] P. Alonso-Magdalena, A. B. Ropero, M. P. Carrera, C. R. Cederroth, M. Baquié, B. R. Gauthier, S. Nef, E. Stefani, and A. Nadal, "Pancreatic insulin content regulation by the estrogen receptor ER alpha.," *PLoS One*, vol. 3, no. 4, p. e2069, Jan. 2008.
- [264] P. Alonso-Magdalena, S. Morimoto, C. Ripoll, E. Fuentes, and A. Nadal, "The estrogenic effect of bisphenol A disrupts pancreatic beta-cell function in vivo and induces insulin resistance.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 114, no. 1, pp. 106–12, Jan. 2006.
- [265] A. B. Ropero, E. Fuentes, J. M. Rovira, C. Ripoll, B. Soria, and A. Nadal, "Non-genomic actions of 17beta-oestradiol in mouse pancreatic beta-cells are mediated by a cGMP-dependent protein kinase.," J. Physiol., vol. 521 Pt 2, pp. 397–407, Dec. 1999.
- [266] A. Nadal, J. M. Rovira, O. Laribi, T. Leon-quinto, E. Andreu, C. Ripoll, and B. Soria, "Rapid insulinotropic effect of 17beta-estradiol via a plasma membrane receptor.," *FASEB J.*, vol. 12, no. 13, pp. 1341–8, Oct. 1998.
- [267] A. B. Ropero, B. Soria, and A. Nadal, "A nonclassical estrogen membrane receptor triggers rapid differential actions in the endocrine pancreas.," *Mol. Endocrinol.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 497–505, Mar. 2002.
- [268] I. Quesada, E. Fuentes, M. C. Viso-León, B. Soria, C. Ripoll, and A. Nadal, "Low doses of the endocrine disruptor bisphenol-A and the native hormone 17beta-estradiol rapidly activate transcription factor CREB.," FASEB J., vol. 16, no. 12, pp. 1671–3, Oct. 2002.

- [269] R. M. Sargis, D. N. Johnson, R. A. Choudhury, and M. J. Brady, "Environmental endocrine disruptors promote adipogenesis in the 3T3-L1 cell line through glucocorticoid receptor activation.," *Obesity (Silver Spring).*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 1283–8, Jul. 2010.
- [270] R. Chamorro-García, S. Kirchner, X. Li, A. Janesick, S. C. Casey, C. Chow, and B. Blumberg, "Bisphenol A diglycidyl ether induces adipogenic differentiation of multipotent stromal stem cells through a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma-independent mechanism.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 120, no. 7, pp. 984–9, Jul. 2012.
- [271] J. Wang, B. Sun, M. Hou, X. Pan, and X. Li, "The environmental obesogen bisphenol A promotes adipogenesis by increasing the amount of 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 in the adipose tissue of children.," Int. J. Obes. (Lond)., vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 999–1005, Jul. 2013.
- [272] T. Kadowaki and T. Yamauchi, "Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors.," *Endocr. Rev.*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 439–51, May 2005.
- [273] T. Kadowaki, T. Yamauchi, N. Kubota, K. Hara, K. Ueki, and K. Tobe, "Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors in insulin resistance, diabetes, and the metabolic syndrome.," J. Clin. Invest., vol. 116, no. 7, pp. 1784–92, Jul. 2006.
- [274] H. Masuno, T. Kidani, K. Sekiya, K. Sakayama, T. Shiosaka, H. Yamamoto, and K. Honda, "Bisphenol A in combination with insulin can accelerate the conversion of 3T3-L1 fibroblasts to adipocytes.," J. Lipid Res., vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 676–84, May 2002.
- [275] T. M. Batista, P. Alonso-Magdalena, E. Vieira, M. E. C. Amaral, C. R. Cederroth, S. Nef, I. Quesada, E. M. Carneiro, and A. Nadal, "Short-term treatment with bisphenol-A leads to metabolic abnormalities in adult male mice.," *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 3, p. e33814, Jan. 2012.
- [276] M. Rönn, J. Kullberg, H. Karlsson, J. Berglund, F. Malmberg, J. Orberg, L. Lind, H. Ahlström, and P. M. Lind, "Bisphenol A exposure increases liver fat in juvenile fructose-fed Fischer 344 rats.," *Toxicology*, vol. 303, pp. 125–32, Jan. 2013.
- [277] S. C. D'Cruz, R. Jubendradass, and P. P. Mathur, "Bisphenol A induces oxidative stress and decreases levels of insulin receptor substrate 2 and glucose transporter 8 in rat testis.," *Reprod. Sci.*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 163–72, Mar. 2012.
- [278] G. Serviddio, J. Sastre, F. Bellanti, J. Viña, G. Vendemiale, and E. Altomare, "Mitochondrial involvement in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis.," *Mol. Aspects Med.*, vol. 29, no. 1–2, pp. 22–35.
- [279] K. Machida and T. Tanaka, "Farnesol-induced generation of reactive oxygen species dependent on mitochondrial transmembrane potential hyperpolarization mediated by F(0)F(1)-ATPase in yeast.," *FEBS Lett.*, vol. 462, no. 1–2, pp. 108–12, Dec. 1999.
- [280] Y. Lin, X. Sun, L. Qiu, J. Wei, Q. Huang, C. Fang, T. Ye, M. Kang, H. Shen, and S. Dong, "Exposure to bisphenol A induces dysfunction of insulin secretion and apoptosis through the damage of mitochondria in rat insulinoma (INS-1) cells.," *Cell Death Dis.*, vol. 4, p. e460, Jan. 2013.
- [281] L. Song, W. Xia, Z. Zhou, Y. Li, Y. Lin, J. Wei, Z. Wei, B. Xu, J. Shen, W. Li, and S. Xu, "Low-level phenolic estrogen pollutants impair islet morphology and β-cell function in isolated rat islets.," J. Endocrinol., vol. 215, no. 2, pp. 303–11, Nov. 2012.

- [282] M. Gotoh, T. Maki, T. Kiyoizumi, S. Satomi, and A. P. Monaco, "An improved method for isolation of mouse pancreatic islets.," *Transplantation*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 437–8, Oct. 1985.
- [283] R. A. Irizarry, B. M. Bolstad, F. Collin, L. M. Cope, B. Hobbs, and T. P. Speed, "Summaries of Affymetrix GeneChip probe level data.," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 31, no. 4, p. e15, Feb. 2003.
- [284] R. G. Rutledge and C. Côté, "Mathematics of quantitative kinetic PCR and the application of standard curves.," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 31, no. 16, p. e93, Aug. 2003.
- [285] K. Cartharius, K. Frech, K. Grote, B. Klocke, M. Haltmeier, A. Klingenhoff, M. Frisch, M. Bayerlein, and T. Werner, "MatInspector and beyond: promoter analysis based on transcription factor binding sites.," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 21, no. 13, pp. 2933–42, Jul. 2005.
- [286] A. L. Tarca, R. Romero, and S. Draghici, "Analysis of microarray experiments of gene expression profiling.," *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.*, vol. 195, no. 2, pp. 373–88, Aug. 2006.
- [287] M. S. Rajeevan, S. D. Vernon, N. Taysavang, and E. R. Unger, "Validation of array-based gene expression profiles by real-time (kinetic) RT-PCR.," J. Mol. Diagn., vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 26–31, Mar. 2001.
- [288] H. Suzuki, Y. Hosokawa, H. Toda, M. Nishikimi, and T. Ozawa, "Cloning and sequencing of a cDNA for human mitochondrial ubiquinone-binding protein of complex III.," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 156, no. 2, pp. 987–94, Oct. 1988.
- [289] S. L. Anderson, W. K. Chung, J. Frezzo, J. C. Papp, J. Ekstein, S. DiMauro, and B. Y. Rubin, "A novel mutation in NDUFS4 causes Leigh syndrome in an Ashkenazi Jewish family.," J. Inherit. Metab. Dis., vol. 31 Suppl 2, pp. S461–7, Dec. 2008.
- [290] I. Chambers, J. Frampton, P. Goldfarb, N. Affara, W. McBain, and P. R. Harrison, "The structure of the mouse glutathione peroxidase gene: the selenocysteine in the active site is encoded by the 'termination' codon, TGA.," *EMBO J.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 1221–7, Jun. 1986.
- [291] G. Beckman, E. Lundgren, and A. Tärnvik, "Superoxide dismutase isozymes in different human tissues, their genetic control and intracellular localization.," *Hum. Hered.*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 338–45, Apr. 1973.
- [292] Y. Li, J. Yang, S. Li, J. Zhang, J. Zheng, W. Hou, H. Zhao, Y. Guo, X. Liu, K. Dou, Z. Situ, and L. Yao, "N-myc downstream-regulated gene 2, a novel estrogen-targeted gene, is involved in the regulation of Na+/K+-ATPase.," J. Biol. Chem., vol. 286, no. 37, pp. 32289–99, Sep. 2011.
- [293] M. Grzmil, S. Voigt, P. Thelen, B. Hemmerlein, K. Helmke, and P. Burfeind, "Up-regulated expression of the MAT-8 gene in prostate cancer and its siRNA-mediated inhibition of expression induces a decrease in proliferation of human prostate carcinoma cells.," *Int. J. Oncol.*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 97– 105, Jan. 2004.
- [294] C. Yun, A. Stanhill, Y. Yang, Y. Zhang, C. M. Haynes, C.-F. Xu, T. A. Neubert, A. Mor, M. R. Philips, and D. Ron, "Proteasomal adaptation to environmental stress links resistance to proteotoxicity with longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 105, no. 19, pp. 7094–9, May 2008.
- [295] "VAPA VAMP (vesicle-associated membrane protein)-associated protein A, 33kDa [Homo sapiens (human)] Gene NCBI." [Online]. Available:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene?cmd=Retrieve&dopt=full_report&list_uids=9218. [Accessed: 30-Mar-2014].

- [296] F. Degoul, H. Brulé, C. Cepanec, M. Helm, C. Marsac, J. Leroux, R. Giegé, and C. Florentz, "Isoleucylation properties of native human mitochondrial tRNAIle and tRNAIle transcripts. Implications for cardiomyopathy-related point mutations (4269, 4317) in the tRNAIle gene.," *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 347–54, Mar. 1998.
- [297] M. K. Moon, M. J. Kim, I. K. Jung, Y. Do Koo, H. Y. Ann, K. J. Lee, S. H. Kim, Y. C. Yoon, B.-J. Cho, K. S. Park, H. C. Jang, and Y. J. Park, "Bisphenol A impairs mitochondrial function in the liver at doses below the no observed adverse effect level.," *J. Korean Med. Sci.*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 644–52, Jun. 2012.
- [298] V. Bindhumol, K. C. Chitra, and P. P. Mathur, "Bisphenol A induces reactive oxygen species generation in the liver of male rats.," *Toxicology*, vol. 188, no. 2–3, pp. 117–24, Jun. 2003.
- [299] H. Kitani, T. Takenouchi, M. Sato, M. Yoshioka, and N. Yamanaka, "A novel isolation method for macrophage-like cells from mixed primary cultures of adult rat liver cells.," J. Immunol. Methods, vol. 360, no. 1–2, pp. 47–55, Aug. 2010.
- [300] I. Marzo, C. Brenner, N. Zamzami, J. M. Jürgensmeier, S. A. Susin, H. L. Vieira, M. C. Prévost, Z. Xie, S. Matsuyama, J. C. Reed, and G. Kroemer, "Bax and adenine nucleotide translocator cooperate in the mitochondrial control of apoptosis.," *Science*, vol. 281, no. 5385, pp. 2027–31, Sep. 1998.
- [301] M. C. Wei, W. X. Zong, E. H. Cheng, T. Lindsten, V. Panoutsakopoulou, A. J. Ross, K. A. Roth, G. R. MacGregor, C. B. Thompson, and S. J. Korsmeyer, "Proapoptotic BAX and BAK: a requisite gateway to mitochondrial dysfunction and death.," *Science*, vol. 292, no. 5517, pp. 727–30, Apr. 2001.
- [302] M. M. Tabb and B. Blumberg, "New modes of action for endocrine-disrupting chemicals.," *Mol. Endocrinol.*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 475–82, Mar. 2006.
- [303] A. C.-H. Chen, P. R. Arany, Y.-Y. Huang, E. M. Tomkinson, S. K. Sharma, G. B. Kharkwal, T. Saleem, D. Mooney, F. E. Yull, T. S. Blackwell, and M. R. Hamblin, "Low-level laser therapy activates NF-kB via generation of reactive oxygen species in mouse embryonic fibroblasts.," *PLoS One*, vol. 6, no. 7, p. e22453, Jan. 2011.
- [304] M. Saadeh, T. C. Ferrante, A. Kane, O. Shirihai, B. E. Corkey, and J. T. Deeney, "Reactive oxygen species stimulate insulin secretion in rat pancreatic islets: studies using mono-oleoyl-glycerol.," *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. e30200, Jan. 2012.
- [305] C. Chen, R. Moreno, B. Samikannu, R. G. Bretzel, M. L. Schmitz, and T. Linn, "Improved intraportal islet transplantation outcome by systemic IKK-beta inhibition: NF-kB activity in pancreatic islets depends on oxygen availability.," *Am. J. Transplant*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 215–24, Mar. 2011.
- [306] W. S. Zawalich, G. J. Tesz, and K. C. Zawalich, "Inhibitors of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase amplify insulin release from islets of lean but not obese mice.," *J. Endocrinol.*, vol. 174, no. 2, pp. 247–58, Aug. 2002.
- [307] J. R. Rochester, "Bisphenol A and human health: a review of the literature.," *Reprod. Toxicol.*, vol. 42, pp. 132–55, Dec. 2013.

- [308] L. N. Vandenberg, I. Chahoud, J. J. Heindel, V. Padmanabhan, F. J. R. Paumgartten, and G. Schoenfelder, "Urinary, circulating, and tissue biomonitoring studies indicate widespread exposure to bisphenol A.," *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 118, no. 8, pp. 1055–70, Aug. 2010.
- [309] A. G. Asimakopoulos, N. S. Thomaidis, and M. A. Koupparis, "Recent trends in biomonitoring of bisphenol A, 4-t-octylphenol, and 4-nonylphenol.," *Toxicol. Lett.*, vol. 210, no. 2, pp. 141–54, Apr. 2012.
- [310] L. T. Budnik, S. Kloth, X. Baur, A. M. Preisser, and H. Schwarzenbach, "Circulating mitochondrial DNA as biomarker linking environmental chemical exposure to early preclinical lesions elevation of mtDNA in human serum after exposure to carcinogenic halo-alkane-based pesticides.," *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 5, p. e64413, Jan. 2013.
- [311] J. Wei, Y. Lin, Y. Li, C. Ying, J. Chen, L. Song, Z. Zhou, Z. Lv, W. Xia, X. Chen, and S. Xu, "Perinatal exposure to bisphenol A at reference dose predisposes offspring to metabolic syndrome in adult rats on a high-fat diet.," *Endocrinology*, vol. 152, no. 8, pp. 3049–61, Aug. 2011.
- [312] A. H. Olsson, B. T. Yang, E. Hall, J. Taneera, A. Salehi, M. D. Nitert, and C. Ling, "Decreased expression of genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation in human pancreatic islets from patients with type 2 diabetes.," *Eur. J. Endocrinol.*, vol. 165, no. 4, pp. 589–95, Oct. 2011.
- [313] S. Anderson, A. T. Bankier, B. G. Barrell, M. H. de Bruijn, A. R. Coulson, J. Drouin, I. C. Eperon, D. P. Nierlich, B. A. Roe, F. Sanger, P. H. Schreier, A. J. Smith, R. Staden, and I. G. Young, "Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome.," *Nature*, vol. 290, no. 5806, pp. 457–65, Apr. 1981.
- [314] M. Federici, M. Hribal, L. Perego, M. Ranalli, Z. Caradonna, C. Perego, L. Usellini, R. Nano, P. Bonini, F. Bertuzzi, L. N. J. L. Marlier, A. M. Davalli, O. Carandente, A. E. Pontiroli, G. Melino, P. Marchetti, R. Lauro, G. Sesti, and F. Folli, "High Glucose Causes Apoptosis in Cultured Human Pancreatic Islets of Langerhans: A Potential Role for Regulation of Specific Bcl Family Genes Toward an Apoptotic Cell Death Program," *Diabetes*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1290–1301, Jun. 2001.
- [315] P. Kovacic, "How safe is bisphenol A? Fundamentals of toxicity: metabolism, electron transfer and oxidative stress.," *Med. Hypotheses*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 1–4, Jul. 2010.
- [316] S. Dong, S. Terasaka, and R. Kiyama, "Bisphenol A induces a rapid activation of Erk1/2 through GPR30 in human breast cancer cells.," *Environ. Pollut.*, vol. 159, no. 1, pp. 212–8, Jan. 2011.